

Equivariant index bound for min-max free boundary minimal surfaces

Giada Franz¹

Received: 20 November 2021 / Accepted: 26 May 2023 / Published online: 22 July 2023 © The Author(s) 2023

Abstract

Given a three-dimensional Riemannian manifold with boundary and a finite group of orientation-preserving isometries of this manifold, we prove that the equivariant index of a free boundary minimal surface obtained via an equivariant min–max procedure \dot{a} la Simon–Smith with *n*-parameters is bounded above by *n*.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
	1.1 Setting and definitions	2
	1.2 Main result	4
	1.3 Applications	5
2	Basic notation	5
3	Equivariant spectrum	6
	3.1 Equivariant index for two-sided hypersurfaces	7
	3.2 Equivariant index for one-sided hypersurfaces	8
4	Free boundary minimal surfaces with bounded equivariant index	8
5	Outline of the proof of regularity and genus bound	10
	5.1 Min-max sequence converging to a stationary varifold	11
	5.2 Min–max sequence <i>G</i> -almost minimizing in annuli	13
	5.3 Regularity and genus bound as a consequence of G-almost minimality	15
6	Deformation theorem	16
7	Proof of the main theorem	20
8	Equivariant index of some families of (free boundary) minimal surfaces	22
Appendix A: Spectrum of elliptic operators with Robin boundary conditions		23
A	ppendix B: Bumpyness is G-generic	25
R	References	

Communicated by Richard M. Schoen.

Giada Franz gfranz@mit.edu

¹ MIT Address Department of Mathematics, 77 Massachusetts Avenue, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA

1 Introduction

The aim of this paper is to show that, through an equivariant min–max procedure á la Simon– Smith [33] and Colding–De Lellis [7] in a three-dimensional manifold with boundary, it is possible to obtain a free boundary minimal surface with equivariant index bounded above by the number of parameters of the sweepouts.

The min-max theory developed by Simon-Smith and Colding-De Lellis differs from the one by Almgren-Pitts [5, 31] and Marques-Neves [26, 28] since, in the former one, stronger regularity and convergence conditions are imposed on the sweepouts (cf. [26, Section 2.11]) and the ambient dimension is assumed to be equal to three. This makes the Simon-Smith approach less flexible; indeed, note for example that the sweepout constructed by Marques and Neves in [26] to prove the Willmore conjecture does not satisfy the Simon-Smith assumptions.

On the other hand, the stronger regularity makes proofs easier and enables to obtain a partial control on the topology of the resulting surface. This has been an advantage of the Simon–Smith approach when one wants to construct a minimal surface with a certain topological type. Indeed, the only way we know so far to obtain some information on the topology of the resulting minimal hypersurface in the Almgren–Pitts min–max theory is to first control the index and then use that the index bounds the topology (see for example [2, 3, 25, 34] for the free boundary case), although such bounds (even when effective) are far from sharp.

Luckily, many proofs working in the Almgren–Pitts setting can be adapted to the Simon– Smith one. This is also the case for the upper bound on the index, proved in [27] for the Almgren–Pitts min–max theory (see also [16, 29] for the free boundary setting). Indeed, this paper consists in adapting those arguments to our "smoother" setting (see [27, Section 1.3]), but with the additional presence of a group of isometries imposed to the min–max procedure. What we obtain is an upper bound on the *equivariant index* of the surface resulting from this *equivariant min–max procedure*. Let us now describe precisely the statement of this result. To this purpose, we first give some preliminary definitions.

1.1 Setting and definitions

The equivariant min–max theory considered in this paper has been mostly developed by Ketover in [19] for the closed case and in [20] for the free boundary one, as proposed by Pitts–Rubinstein in [32]. One of its primary goals is to construct new families of minimal surfaces in S^3 and of free boundary minimal surfaces in B^3 . Indeed, encoding the right symmetry group in the min–max procedure allows us to produce surfaces with fully controlled topology, as done by the author in joint work with Carlotto and Schulz in [10].

Our setting is a three-dimensional compact Riemannian manifold (M^3, γ) with strictly mean convex boundary and with a *finite* group G of orientation-preserving isometries of M.

Remark 1.1 We assume the manifold *M* to have strictly mean convex boundary because we want it to satisfy the following property.

(\mathfrak{P}) If $\Sigma^2 \subset M$ is a smooth, connected, complete (possibly noncompact), embedded surface with zero mean curvature which meets the boundary of the ambient manifold orthogonally along its own boundary, then $\partial \Sigma = \Sigma \cap \partial M$.

Here we ask for more, namely, the strict mean convexity of the boundary of the ambient manifold (which implies (\mathfrak{P})), because we want it to be an open property with respect to the class of smooth metrics.

Remark 1.2 Li in [23] studies the free boundary min-max problem without curvature assumptions on the ambient manifold M. However, as remarked in [9, Appendix A] (see also [9, pp. 5]), there are problems in defining the Morse index for free boundary minimal surfaces that are not properly embedded in M. Moreover, the compactness results in [1], which we use for example in Appendix B, need property (\mathfrak{P}). That is another good reason why we require (\mathfrak{P}) to hold in this paper.

Remark 1.3 Here we assume the group G to be finite, but it is due mentioning that the equivariant min–max theory has been developed also in the case of a compact *connected* Lie group with cohomogeneity not 0 or 2 in [24] and in the Almgren–Pitts setting with a compact Lie group of cohomogeneity greater or equal than 3 in [37].

In what follows, we denote by $I^n = [0, 1]^n$ the product of *n*-copies of the unit interval. Moreover, when we say that Σ^m is a *hypersurface* (or *surface* if m = 2) in an ambient manifold M^{m+1} , we mean that Σ is smooth, complete and properly embedded, i.e., $\partial \Sigma = \Sigma \cap \partial M$.

Definition 1.4 A family $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in I^n}$ of subsets of a three-dimensional Riemannian manifold M is said to be a *generalized family* of surfaces if there are a finite subset T of I^n and a finite set of points P of M such that:

- (i) $t \mapsto \Sigma_t$ is continuous in the sense of varifolds;
- (ii) Σ_t is a surface for every $t \notin T \cup \partial I^n$;
- (iii) for $t \in T \setminus \partial I^n$, Σ_t is a surface in $M \setminus P$.

Moreover, the generalized family $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in I^n}$ is said to be *smooth* if it holds also that:

- (iv) $t \mapsto \Sigma_t$ is smooth for $t \notin T \cup \partial I^n$;
- (v) for $t \in T \setminus \partial I^n$, $\Sigma_s \to \Sigma_t$ smoothly in $M \setminus P$ as $s \to t$.

Finally, we say that $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t\in I^n}$ is a *G*-sweepout if it is a smooth generalized family of surfaces and Σ_t is *G*- equivariant for all $t \in I^n$, i.e., $h(\Sigma_t) = \Sigma_t$ for all $h \in G$ and $t \in I^n$, and *orientable* for all $t \in I^n \setminus T$.

Remark 1.5 Slightly different variations of this definition are given in several references (see for example [7, Definition 1.2], [14, Definition 0.5], [11, pp. 2836]). In order to have the regularity and the index bound on the resulting surface, it is sufficient to consider generalized families of surfaces, however smoothness is needed for the genus bound (see [14, Definition 0.5]).

Definition 1.6 We say that a smooth map $\Phi : I^n \times M \to M$ is a *G*-equivariant isotopy if $\Phi_t := \Phi(t, \cdot) \in \text{Diff}_G(M)$ for all $t \in I^n$, namely $\Phi_t : M \to M$ is a diffeomorphism such that $\Phi_t \circ h = h \circ \Phi_t$ for all $h \in G, t \in I^n$.

Definition 1.7 Given a *G*-sweepout $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t \in I^n}$, we define its *G*-saturation as

 $\Pi := \{\{\Phi_t(\Sigma_t)\}_{t \in I^n} : \Phi : I^n \times M \to M \text{ is a } G \text{-equivariant isotopy with } \Phi_t = \text{id for } t \in \partial I^n\}.$

Then the *min-max width* of Π is defined as

$$W_{\Pi} := \inf_{\{\Lambda_t\}\in\Pi} \sup_{t\in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Lambda_t).$$

D Springer

Remark 1.8 Note that here we consider isotopies Φ such that $\Phi_t : M \to M$ is a diffeomorphism of the ambient manifold. This choice does not coincide with the definition in [23], where *outer isotopies* are considered (see also Remark 1.2).

Remark 1.9 Note that the uniform bound on the "bad points" (the points belonging to P in Definition 1.4), which is required in [7, Remark 1.3] (see also [14, Remark 0.2]), is trivially satisfied for the *G*-saturation of a *G*-sweepout.

1.2 Main result

We obtain the following equivariant min–max theorem, which is the combination of regularity, genus bound and equivariant index bound, the latter being the main object of this paper. Indeed, the regularity and the genus bound were addressed in [20, Theorem 3.2] (see also [19, Theorem 1.3], where Ketover dealt with the closed case, for which many arguments are similar).

Theorem 1.10 Let (M^3, γ) be a three-dimensional Riemannian manifold with strictly mean convex boundary and let G be a finite group of orientation-preserving isometries of M. Let $\{\Sigma_t\}_{t\in I^n}$ be a G-sweepout and let Π be its G-saturation. Assume that

$$W_{\Pi} > \sup_{t \in \partial I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_t).$$

Then there exist a minimizing sequence $\{\{\Sigma_t^j\}_{t\in I^n}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\subset \Pi$ (i.e., $\lim_{j\to\infty}\sup_{t\in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_t^j) = W_{\Pi}$) and a sequence $\{t_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\subset I^n$ such that $\{\Sigma^j = \Sigma_{t_j}^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a min–max sequence (i.e., $\lim_{j\to\infty} \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma^j) = W_{\Pi}$) converging in the sense of varifolds to $\Xi := \sum_{i=1}^k m_i \Xi_i$, where Ξ_i are disjoint free boundary minimal surfaces and m_i are positive integers.

Moreover, the G-equivariant index of the support $spt(\Xi) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \Xi_i$ of Ξ is less or equal than n, namely

$$\operatorname{ind}_G(\operatorname{spt}(\Xi)) = \sum_{i=1}^k \operatorname{ind}_G(\Xi_i) \le n,$$

and the following genus bound holds

$$\sum_{i \in \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{genus}(\Xi_i) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} (\operatorname{genus}(\Xi_i) - 1) \leq \liminf_{j \to +\infty} \liminf_{\tau \to t_j} \operatorname{genus}(\Sigma_{\tau}^j),$$

where \mathcal{O} is the set of indices $i \in \{1, ..., k\}$ such that Ξ_i is orientable and \mathcal{N} is the set of indices $i \in \{1, ..., k\}$ such that Ξ_i is nonorientable.

The precise definition of equivariant index is given in Sect. 3, but it is just what one would expect, i.e., the maximal dimension of a linear subspace of the *G*-equivariant vector fields where the second variation of the area functional is negative definite.

Remark 1.11 The assumptions that M has dimension 3 and that G consists of *orientation*preserving isometries are required in [19, 20], which we use for the regularity and genus bound in Propostion 5.9 (see also Remark 5.11). In this paper, such assumptions are used only in Sect. 4. Elsewhere the arguments work for any finite group of isometries G and any ambient dimension $3 \le m + 1 \le 7$.

Remark 1.12 The equivariant index estimate in Theorem 1.10 implies the analogous result in the closed case, since, if we repeat the proofs forgetting about the boundary, everything works in the same way (actually more easily).

1.3 Applications

As a direct application, we deduce that the family of free boundary minimal surfaces in B^3 constructed in [10] have dihedral equivariant index *equal to* one.

Let us briefly recall the geometry of these surfaces in order to better appreciate the theorem below. Fixed any $g \ge 1$, recall that the dihedral group \mathbb{D}_{g+1} acting on $\overline{B^3}$ is defined as the subgroup of Euclidean isometries generated by the rotation of angle $2\pi/(g+1)$ around the vertical axis $\xi_0 := \{(0, 0, r) : r \in [-1, 1]\}$ and by the rotations of angle π around the g+1horizontal axes $\xi_k := \{(r \cos(k\pi/(g+1)), r \sin(k\pi/(g+1)), 0) : r \in [-1, 1]\}$ (see also [10, pp. 1]). Then the free boundary minimal surface $M_g \subset B^3$ constructed in [10, Theorem 1.1] is \mathbb{D}_{g+1} -equivariant, has genus g and connected boundary. Moreover, M_g contains the horizontal axes ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_{g+1} and intersects ξ_0 orthogonally.

Theorem 1.13 For all $g \ge 1$, we can assume that the free boundary minimal surface $M_g \subset B^3$ constructed in [10, Theorem 1.1] has \mathbb{D}_{g+1} -equivariant index equal to 1.

Remark 1.14 Note that the phrase "we can assume" in the statement is due to the fact that in Theorem 1.10 we prove the existence of a surface with a bound on the equivariant index, but we do not show that every surface obtained from the min–max procedure has this property. Therefore, Theorem 1.10 has to be applied in place of the min–max theorem used at the beginning of Section 4 in [10].

Remark 1.15 Even if, for simplicity, we state the result only for the surfaces M_g constructed in [10, Theorem 1.1], Theorem 1.10 can be applied to any surface obtained via an equivariant min–max procedure fitting the framework defined above. See Remark 8.2 for further details on this matter.

Besides its own interest, Theorem 1.13 is meant to be a first step toward the computation of the (nonequivariant) Morse index of the family of surfaces M_g (or possibly any another family arising from an equivariant min–max procedure, even with multiple parameters in play). This would be particularly relevant, as the only free boundary minimal surfaces in B^3 for which we know the index are the equatorial disc (with index 1) and the critical catenoid (with index 4, see [13, 35, 36]). The idea is that the equivariant index gives information on the index of any of the isometric parts (which are 2(g + 1) in the case of M_g) of the equivariant surface. This problem will be addressed elsewhere.

2 Basic notation

Let (M^{m+1}, γ) be a compact Riemannian manifold with boundary and let $\Sigma^m \subset M$ be a hypersurface. Then we denote by:

- $\mathfrak{X}(M)$ the set of vector fields on *M* tangent to ∂M , namely $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ if and only if $X(x) \in T_x \partial M$ for all $x \in \partial M$. In what follows, we consider (tangent) vector fields in $\mathfrak{X}(M)$ often omitting the adjective "tangent".
- $X^{\perp} \in \Gamma(N\Sigma)$ the normal component to Σ of a vector $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$, where $\Gamma(N\Sigma)$ denotes the sections of the normal bundle of Σ .
- *D* the connection on *M*, ∇ the induced connection on Σ and ∇[⊥] the induced connection on the normal bundle of Σ.
- Ric_M the Ricci curvature of M.

- η the outward unit conormal vector field to $\partial \Sigma$.
- $\hat{\eta}$ the outward unit conormal vector field to ∂M (which coincides with η along $\partial \Sigma$ when Σ satisfies the free boundary property).
- $\mathbb{I}^{\partial M} = \gamma(D_X Y, \hat{\eta})$ the second fundamental form of $\partial M \subset M$.
- $A(X, Y) = (D_X Y)^{\perp}$ the second fundamental form of $\Sigma \subset M$ and $|A|^2$ its Hilbert-Schmidt norm.

3 Equivariant spectrum

In this section (M^{m+1}, γ) denotes a compact Riemannian manifold with boundary and *G* denotes a finite group of isometries of *M*.

Definition 3.1 A (tangent) vector field $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ is *G*-equivariant if $h_*X = X$ for all $h \in G$. We denote by $\mathfrak{X}_G(M)$ the set of all *G*-equivariant vector fields.

Definition 3.2 Given a varifold V in M, we denote by ||V|| the Radon measure in M associated with V. Moreover, we say that a varifold V in M is G-equivariant if $h_*V = V$ for all $h \in G$. We denote by $\mathcal{V}_G^2(M)$ the set of 2-dimensional G-equivariant varifolds supported in M, endowed with the weak topology. Recall that $\mathcal{V}_G^2(M)$ is metrizable and we denote by **F** a metric metrizing it (see [31, pp. 66] or [26, pp. 703]).

Observe that all the metrics on a compact manifolds are equivalent, hence the space $\mathcal{V}_G^2(M)$ does not depend on *G*. Therefore, we can also assume to fix a metric **F** independently of the metric on *M*.

Remark 3.3 Given a *G*-equivariant vector field $X \in \mathfrak{X}_G(M)$, let $\Phi : [0, +\infty) \times M \to M$ be the associated flow. Then, if *V* is a *G*-equivariant varifold, $(\Phi_t)_*V$ is *G*-equivariant as well for all $t \in [0, +\infty)$. Indeed, $\Phi : [0, +\infty) \times M \to M$ is a *G*-equivariant isotopy (see Definition 1.6).

Definition 3.4 Given a varifold V in M and a vector field $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$, we denote by $\delta V(X)$ the first variation of the area of V along X, namely

$$\delta V(X) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Big|_{t=0} \|(\Phi_t)_* V\|(M),$$

where $\Phi: [0, +\infty) \times M \to M$ is the flow generated by X. If $V \in \mathcal{V}_G^2(M)$ is G-equivariant, we say that V is G-stationary if $\delta V(X) = 0$ for all G-equivariant vector fields $X \in \mathfrak{X}_G(M)$.

Remark 3.5 By the principle of symmetric criticality by Palais (see [30], or [19, Lemma 3.8] for the result in this setting), we have that $V \in \mathcal{V}_G^2(M)$ is *G*-stationary if and only if it is stationary.

Now, let $\Sigma^m \subset M$ be a compact *G*-equivariant hypersurface and let $\Phi : [0, +\infty) \times M \to M$ be the flow associated to a *G*-equivariant vector field $X \in \mathfrak{X}_G(M)$, then we have that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Big|_{t=0}\mathscr{H}^m(\Phi_t(\Sigma)) = -\int_{\Sigma} \langle H, X \rangle \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^m + \int_{\partial \Sigma} \langle \eta, X \rangle \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^{m-1} = 0,$$

where η is the outward unit conormal vector field to $\partial \Sigma$. Moreover, if Σ is stationary (namely a *free boundary minimal hypersurface*), we have

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}t^2}\Big|_{t=0}\mathscr{H}^m(\Phi_t(\Sigma))=Q^{\Sigma}(X^{\perp},X^{\perp}),$$

🖄 Springer

where

$$Q^{\Sigma}(X^{\perp}, X^{\perp})$$

:= $\int_{\Sigma} (|\nabla^{\perp} X^{\perp}|^2 - (\operatorname{Ric}_M(X^{\perp}, X^{\perp}) + |A|^2 |X^{\perp}|^2)) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^m + \int_{\partial \Sigma} \mathrm{I\!I}^{\partial M}(X^{\perp}, X^{\perp}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^{m-1}.$

Let $\Gamma_G(N\Sigma)$ denote the sections of the normal bundle of Σ obtained as restriction to Σ of *G*-equivariant vector fields in *M*. Then, the *G*-equivariant (Morse) index ind_G(Σ) of Σ is defined as the maximal dimension of a linear subspace of $\Gamma_G(N\Sigma)$ where Q^{Σ} is negative definite.

Remark 3.6 Note that, given a *G*-equivariant submanifold Σ , any *G*-equivariant vector field defined along Σ can be extended to a *G*-equivariant vector field on the ambient manifold *M*. Indeed, we can first extend it to a vector field $\tilde{X} \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ (not necessarily *G*-equivariant) and then define

$$X = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{h \in G} h_* \tilde{X}.$$

3.1 Equivariant index for two-sided hypersurfaces

If $\Sigma^m \subset M^{m+1}$ is two-sided, given a *G*-equivariant section $Y \in \Gamma_G(N\Sigma)$ of the normal bundle, we can write it as Y = uv, where $u \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma)$ and v is a choice of unit normal to Σ . Then, the second variation of the volume of Σ along *Y* is given by

$$Q^{\Sigma}(Y, Y) = Q_{\Sigma}(u, u)$$

$$:= \int_{\Sigma} (|\nabla u|^{2} - (\operatorname{Ric}_{M}(v, v) + |A|^{2})u^{2}) \, d\mathscr{H}^{m} + \int_{\partial \Sigma} \operatorname{I\!I}^{\partial M}(v, v)u^{2} \, d\mathscr{H}^{m-1}$$

$$= -\int_{\Sigma} u \mathcal{L}_{\Sigma} u \, d\mathscr{H}^{m} + \int_{\partial \Sigma} (u \partial_{\eta} u + \operatorname{I\!I}^{\partial M}(v, v)u^{2}) \, d\mathscr{H}^{m-1},$$

where $\mathcal{L}_{\Sigma} := \Delta + \operatorname{Ric}_{M}(\nu, \nu) + |A|^{2}$ is the Jacobi operator associated to Σ .

Now let us further assume that Σ is connected. Note that, if Y = uv is *G*-equivariant, for all $h \in G$ we must have

$$h_*(uv) = uv \implies u(h(x))v(h(x)) = dh_x[u(x)v(x)]$$
$$= u(x)dh_x[v(x)] = sgn_{\Sigma}(h)u(x)v(h(x)),$$

where $\operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma}(h) = 1$ if $h_*v = v$ and $\operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma}(h) = -1$ if $h_*v = -v$. Indeed, h_*v is equal to v or -v, because h is an isometry and $h(\Sigma) = \Sigma$ (hence $h_*(N\Sigma) = N\Sigma$), and Σ is connected (thus the sign does not depend on the point on Σ). Note that $\operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma}(h_1 \circ h_2) = \operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma}(h_1) \operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma}(h_2)$. This leads to the following definition.

Definition 3.7 Given a compact connected Riemannian manifold Σ^m , a finite group G of isometries of Σ and a multiplicative function $\operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma} \colon G \to \{-1, 1\}$, we define the spaces

$$\begin{split} C_G^{\infty}(\Sigma) &:= \{ u \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma) : u \circ h = \operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma}(h) u \ \forall h \in G \}, \\ L_G^2(\Sigma) &:= \overline{C_G^{\infty}(\Sigma)}^{\|\cdot\|_{L^2}}, \\ H_G^1(\Sigma) &:= \overline{C_G^{\infty}(\Sigma)}^{\|\cdot\|_{H^1}}. \end{split}$$

Deringer

Remark 3.8 Observe that $L^2_G(\Sigma)$ is a Hilbert space endowed with the scalar product $(u, v)_{L^2} = \int_{\Sigma} uv \, d\mathscr{H}^m$ and $C^{\infty}_G(\Sigma)$ is dense in $L^2_G(\Sigma)$.

The *G*-equivariant (Morse) index of Σ coincides with the maximal dimension of a subspace of $C_G^{\infty}(M)$ where Q_{Σ} is negative definite. Moreover, thanks to Theorem A.3, the elliptic problem

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{L}_{\Sigma}\varphi = \lambda\varphi & \text{in } \Sigma\\ \partial_{\eta}\varphi = -\mathbf{I}^{\partial M}(\nu,\nu)\varphi & \text{in } \partial\Sigma \end{cases}$$

admits a discrete spectrum $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \ldots \leq \lambda_k \leq \ldots \rightarrow +\infty$ with associated $L^2_G(\Sigma)$ -orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions $(\varphi_k)_{k\geq 1} \subset C^{\infty}_G(\Sigma)$ of $L^2_G(\Sigma)$. The *G*-equivariant index equals the number of negative eigenvalues.

Remark 3.9 Note that the assumption of connectedness of Σ is not restrictive. Indeed, if Σ consists of several connected components $\Sigma_1, \ldots, \Sigma_k$ for some $k \ge 2$, then we can consider each connected component separately and $\operatorname{ind}_G(\Sigma) = \sum_{i=1}^k \operatorname{ind}_G(\Sigma_i)$.

3.2 Equivariant index for one-sided hypersurfaces

If $\Sigma^m \subset M^{m+1}$ is one-sided, the elliptic problem

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta_{\Sigma}^{\perp} Y - \operatorname{Ric}_{M}^{\perp}(Y, \cdot) - |A|^{2} Y = \lambda Y & \text{in } \Sigma \\ \nabla_{\eta}^{\perp} Y = -(\mathbf{I}^{\partial M}(Y, \cdot))^{\sharp} & \text{in } \partial \Sigma, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

on the *G*-equivariant sections $\Gamma_G(N\Sigma)$ of the normal bundle, admits a discrete spectrum $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \ldots \leq \lambda_k \leq \ldots \rightarrow +\infty$ and the *G*-equivariant index coincides with the number of negative eigenvalues. This follows from the two-sided case applied to the double cover of Σ . Indeed, let us consider the double cover $\pi : \tilde{\Sigma} \rightarrow \Sigma$, then every isometry $h \in G$ lifts to two isometries \tilde{h}_1, \tilde{h}_2 of $\tilde{\Sigma}$, where $\tilde{h}_1 \circ \tilde{h}_2^{-1}$ is given by the isometric involution $i: \tilde{\Sigma} \rightarrow \tilde{\Sigma}$ associated to the universal cover. We denote by \tilde{G} the finite group generated by these isometries. Every $Y \in \Gamma_G(N\Sigma)$ lifts to a vector field $\tilde{Y} \in \Gamma(N\tilde{\Sigma})$ and we can write it as $\tilde{Y} = u\tilde{v}$, where \tilde{v} is a global unit normal to $\tilde{\Sigma}$ and $u \in C^{\infty}_{\tilde{G}}(\tilde{\Sigma})$. Vice versa, for all $u \in C^{\infty}_{\tilde{G}}(\tilde{\Sigma})$, the vector field $Y := \pi_*(u\tilde{v})$ is well-defined and belongs to $\Gamma_G(N\Sigma)$. Hence we can just apply Theorem A.3 to $\tilde{\Sigma}$ and \tilde{G} (as we did in the previous subsection) to obtain the desired properties on the spectrum of problem (3.1).

4 Free boundary minimal surfaces with bounded equivariant index

In this section, roughly speaking, we prove that a limit of free boundary minimal surfaces with bounded equivariant index satisfies the same bound on the equivariant index.

Throughout the section, we assume (M^3, γ) to be a three-dimensional compact Riemannian manifold with boundary satisfying property (\mathfrak{P}) , *G* to be a finite group of *orientation-preserving* isometries of *M* and $S \subset M$ to be the singular locus of *G*, namely

$$\mathcal{S} := \{ x \in M : \exists h \in G \setminus \{ \text{id} \}, h(x) = x \}.$$

Moreover, given a free boundary minimal surface $\Sigma^2 \subset M$ and an open subset $U \subset M$, we let $\mu_1(\Sigma \cap U)$ denote the first eigenvalue of the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta_{\Sigma}^{\perp} Y - \operatorname{Ric}_{M}^{\perp}(Y, \cdot) - |A|^{2} Y = \mu Y & \text{in } \Sigma \cap U \\ \nabla_{\eta}^{\perp} Y = -(\mathbb{I}^{\partial M}(Y, \cdot))^{\sharp} & \text{in } \partial \Sigma \cap U \\ Y = 0 & \text{in } \partial(\Sigma \cap U) \setminus \partial \Sigma \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

on the sections $\Gamma(N(\Sigma \cap U))$ of the normal bundle. Furthermore, if Σ and $\Sigma \cap U$ are *G*-equivariant, let $\lambda_1(\Sigma \cap U)$ be the first eigenvalue of the same problem (4.1) on the *G*-equivariant sections $\Gamma_G(N(\Sigma \cap U))$ of the normal bundle (see Sect. 3).

Remark 4.1 We stress the fact that we use the letters λ and μ to denote the eigenvalues respectively *taking* and *not taking* into account the symmetry group.

Lemma 4.2 (cf. [19, Proposition 4.6]) In the setting above, let $\Sigma^2 \subset M$ be a *G*-equivariant free boundary minimal surface in *M* and fix $x \in \Sigma \setminus S$. Then, there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that, for all $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$, the *G*-equivariant subset $U_{\varepsilon}(x) := \bigcup_{h \in G} h(B_{\varepsilon}(x))$ consists of exactly |G| disjoint balls $\{B_{\varepsilon}(h(x))\}_{h \in G}$, and it holds

$$\mu_1(\Sigma \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x)) = \mu_1(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x)) = \lambda_1(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x)).$$

Proof First, note that $B_{\varepsilon}(h(x)) = h(B_{\varepsilon}(x))$ since every $h \in G$ is an isometry. Moreover, if ε_0 is sufficiently small (in particular smaller than half of the distance between x and h(x) for all $h \in G$), then we have that $h(B_{\varepsilon}(x)) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x) = B_{\varepsilon}(h(x)) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x) \neq \emptyset$ for some $h \in G$ if and only if h(x) = x, which implies that $h = \text{id because } x \notin S$. In particular, we get that the subset $U_{\varepsilon}(x) := \bigcup_{h \in G} h(B_{\varepsilon}(x))$ consists of exactly |G| disjoint balls.

Now, we let $\varepsilon > 0$ be sufficiently small such that $\Sigma \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x)$ is two-sided. Then, we can write any section $X \in \Gamma(N(\Sigma \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x)))$ of the normal bundle as X = uv, where $u \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x))$ and v is a choice of unit normal, as in Sect. 3.1. Consider the first nonnegative eigenfunction $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x))$ relative to the eigenvalue $\mu_1(\Sigma \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x))$, and define $\tilde{\varphi} \in C^{\infty}(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x))$ as

$$\tilde{\varphi}(h(x)) := \operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma}(h)\varphi(x)$$

for all $h \in G$. Note that $\tilde{\varphi}$ is well-defined and *G*-equivariant, i.e., $\tilde{\varphi} \in C_G^{\infty}(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x))$. As a result, since $\tilde{\varphi} \in C_G^{\infty}(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x))$ is nonnegative and *G*-equivariant, we obtain that $\tilde{\varphi}$ is the first eigenfunction relative to the eigenvalue $\mu_1(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x))$, and also relative to $\lambda_1(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x))$. This implies that the three numbers $\mu_1(\Sigma \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x))$, $\mu_1(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x))$ and $\lambda_1(\Sigma \cap U_{\varepsilon}(x))$ actually coincide.

Theorem 4.3 In the setting above, let $\{\Sigma_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of *G*-equivariant free boundary minimal surfaces in *M*, with uniformly bounded area, such that $\operatorname{ind}_G(\Sigma_k) \leq n$ for some fixed $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then (up to subsequence) Σ_k converges locally graphically and smoothly, possibly with multiplicity, to a free boundary minimal surface $\tilde{\Sigma} \subset M \setminus (S \cup \mathcal{Y})$ in $M \setminus (S \cup \mathcal{Y})$, where $S \subset M$ is the singular locus of *G* and \mathcal{Y} is a finite subset of *M* with $|\mathcal{Y}| \leq n|G|$. Furthermore, if there exists a *G*-equivariant free boundary minimal surface $\Sigma \subset M$ such that $\tilde{\Sigma} = \Sigma \setminus (S \cup \mathcal{Y})$ (namely if $\tilde{\Sigma}$ extends smoothly to *M*), then $\operatorname{ind}_G(\Sigma) \leq n$.

Remark 4.4 The previous theorem holds even when Σ_k is a free boundary minimal surface with respect to a *G*-equivariant Riemannian metric γ_k on *M*, for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and the sequence $\{\gamma_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges smoothly to γ .

Proof Let us consider the set

$$\mathcal{Y} := \left\{ x \in M \setminus \mathcal{S} : \forall \varepsilon > 0, \limsup_{k \to \infty} \mu_1(\Sigma_k \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x)) < 0 \right\} \subset M \setminus \mathcal{S}.$$

By Theorems 18 and 19 in [1], having uniformly bounded area, the surfaces Σ_k converge (up to subsequence) locally graphically and smoothly in $M \setminus (S \cup Y)$ with finite multiplicity to a free boundary minimal surface $\tilde{\Sigma} \subset M \setminus (S \cup Y)$.

Assume by contradictions that \mathcal{Y} contains n' := n|G| + 1 distinct points $x_1, \ldots, x_{n'} \in M \setminus S$. Then, there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, such that the balls $B_{\varepsilon}(x_1), \ldots, B_{\varepsilon}(x_{n'}) \subset M \setminus S$ are disjoint and (up to subsequence) $\mu_1(\Sigma_k \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x_i)) < 0$ for all k sufficiently large and $i = 1, \ldots, n'$. Now, defining the G-equivariant subsets $U_i = U_{\varepsilon}(x_i) := \bigcup_{h \in G} h(B_{\varepsilon}(x_i))$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n'$ as in Lemma 4.2 (taking ε possibly smaller), we have that $\lambda_1(\Sigma_k \cap U_i) = \mu_1(\Sigma_k \cap B_{\varepsilon}(x_i)) < 0$. Moreover, $U_i \cap U_j \neq \emptyset$ for some $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n'\}$ if and only if $U_i = U_j$. Note that, fixed $i \in \{1, \ldots, n'\}$, there are at most |G| values of $j \in \{1, \ldots, n'\}$ such that $U_i = U_{\varepsilon}(x_i) = U_{\varepsilon}(x_j) = U_j$. Therefore, at least $n + 1 = \lceil \frac{n'}{|G|} \rceil$, say U_1, \ldots, U_{n+1} , of the sets $U_1, \ldots, U_{n'}$ are disjoint. In particular, this contradicts the assumption ind_G(\Sigma_k) \le n, since $\Sigma_k \cap U_1, \ldots, \Sigma_k \cap U_{n+1}$ are disjoint G-equivariant G-unstable subsets of Σ_k . Hence, we have that $|\mathcal{Y}| \le n|G|$.

Let us now suppose that $\tilde{\Sigma}$ extends smoothly to Σ in M, and assume by contradiction that $\operatorname{ind}_G(\Sigma) > n$. Then, there exist G-equivariant vector fields $X_1, \ldots, X_{n+1} \in \Gamma_G(N\Sigma)$ on Σ such that $\sum_{i=1}^{n+1} a_i X_i$ is a negative direction for the second variation of the area of Σ for all $(a_1, \ldots, a_{n+1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}$. Since the isometries in G are orientation-preserving, $\Sigma \cap S$ consists of a finite union S_0 of isolated points and of a finite union $S_1 = (\Sigma \cap S) \setminus S_0$ of smooth curve segments (see [12, Theorem 2.4] and [19, Lemmas 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5]). In particular, by Lemmas 3.4 and 3.5 in [19], for all $x \in S_1$ there exists $h \in G$ such that h(x) = x and $h_*\nu = -\nu$, where ν is a choice of unit normal to Σ at the point x. Therefore, by equivariance of $X_1, \ldots, X_{n+1} \in \Gamma_G(N\Sigma)$, we have that $X_i = 0$ on S_1 for all $i = 1, \ldots, n+1$. As a result, thanks to a standard cutoff argument, we can assume without loss of generality that X_1, \ldots, X_{n+1} are compactly supported in $M \setminus (S \cup Y)$. Indeed, we can first suppose that X_1, \ldots, X_{n+1} are compactly supported in $M \setminus S_1$, because every continuous function on a surface that is zero along a smooth curve can be approximated in the H^1 -norm with functions that are zero in a neighborhood of such curve (see e.g. the proof of Theorem 2 in [15, Section 5.5]). Secondly, we can suppose that X_1, \ldots, X_{n+1} are zero in a neighborhood of the finite set $S_0 \cup \mathcal{Y}$ using a standard log-cutoff argument. Observe that all these operations can be made in an equivariant way, because both S_1 and $S_0 \cup Y$ are *G*-equivariant. Since Σ_k smoothly converges (possibly with multiplicity) to Σ in $M \setminus (S \cup \mathcal{Y})$, we thus get that $\operatorname{ind}_G(\Sigma_k) > n$ for k sufficiently large, which contradicts our assumption. This proves $\operatorname{ind}_G(\Sigma) \leq n$, as desired.

5 Outline of the proof of regularity and genus bound

In this section, we outline the results about the regularity and the genus bound for the surface obtained via a Simon–Smith equivariant min–max procedure. Besides being interesting on its own, we also need to unfold some of those arguments for the proof of Theorem 1.10. Indeed, we do not prove that the surface obtained from the min–max procedure has controlled equivariant index, but we show that it is possible to properly modify the proof in order to obtain a surface with the desired bound on the equivariant index.

We also include some detailed proofs for completeness, even if they are very similar to existing ones. This is because sometimes we need slight variations of existing results (for example here we consider *n*-dimensional sweepouts) or the proofs are split in many different references.

Definition 5.1 In the setting of Theorem 1.10, given a minimizing sequence of sweepouts $\Sigma^j = {\Sigma_t^j}_{t \in I^n} \in \text{for } j \in \mathbb{N}$ (namely such that $\lim_{j \to \infty} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_t^j) = W_{\Pi}$), we define its *critical set* as

$$C(\{\mathbf{\Sigma}^{j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}})$$

= { $V \in \mathcal{V}_{G}^{2}(M)$ such that $\exists j_{k} \to +\infty, t_{j_{k}} \in I^{n}$ with $\mathbf{F}(\Sigma_{t_{j_{k}}}^{j_{k}}, V) \to 0, ||V||(M) = W_{\Pi}$ }.

5.1 Min-max sequence converging to a stationary varifold

The first step is to show that there exists a min-max sequence converging to a stationary varifold, as stated in the following proposition.

Proposition 5.2 (cf. [19, Proposition 3.9]) In the setting of Theorem 1.10, given a minimizing sequence $\{\Lambda^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} = \{\{\Lambda^j_t\}_{t\in I^n}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$, there exists another minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} = \{\{\Sigma^j_t\}_{t\in I^n}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that, if $\{\Sigma^j_{t_j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a min–max sequence, then (up to subsequence) $\Sigma^j_{t_j}$ converges in the sense of varifolds to a stationary varifold. Moreover, it holds $C(\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}) \subset C(\{\Lambda^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}})$.

Proof We include the proof for completeness. However, the argument is the same as in the proof of [8, Proposition 2.1], given the suitable modifications to the equivariant setting.

We first restrict to the compact space

$$\mathcal{X} := \{ V \in \mathcal{V}_{G}^{2}(M) : \|V\|(M) \le 2W_{\Pi} \}$$

and we denote by \mathcal{V}_{∞} the subspace of *G*-stationary varifolds of \mathcal{X} , which coincides with the subspace of stationary varifolds by Remark 3.5, and we define $\mathcal{Y} := \mathcal{X} \setminus \mathcal{V}_{\infty}$. Now, for every $V \in \mathcal{Y}$, consider a *G*-equivariant smooth vector field $\xi_V \in \mathfrak{X}_G(M)$ such that $\delta V(\xi_V) < 0$. Up to rescaling, we can assume without loss of generality that $\|\xi_V\|_{C^k} \leq 1/k$, whenever $\mathbf{F}(V, \mathcal{V}_{\infty}) \leq 2^{-k}$ and $k \geq 1$ is any positive integer.

Then, for every $V \in \mathcal{Y}$, let $0 < \rho(V) < \mathbf{F}(V, \mathcal{V}_{\infty})/2$ be such that $\delta W(\xi_V) < 0$ for every $W \in B^{\mathbf{F}}_{\rho(V)}(V)$. Note that $\{B^{\mathbf{F}}_{\rho(V)}(V)\}_{V \in \mathcal{Y}}$ is a cover of \mathcal{Y} and thus it admits a subordinate partition of unity $\{\varphi_V\}_{V \in \mathcal{Y}}$. Therefore, for every $V \in \mathcal{Y}$, we can define the smooth *G*-equivariant vector field

$$H_V := \sum_{W \in \mathcal{Y}} \varphi_W(V) \xi_W.$$

Note that the map $\mathcal{Y} \ni V \mapsto H_V \in \mathfrak{X}_G(M)$ is continuous. Moreover, observe that $\delta V(H_V) < 0$ for every $V \in \mathcal{Y}$ and that, if $\mathbf{F}(V, \mathcal{V}_\infty) \leq 2^{-k-1}$ for some positive integer $k \geq 1$, then $\|H_V\|_{C^k} \leq 1/k$. This last property follows from the fact that, if $\mathbf{F}(V, \mathcal{V}_\infty) \leq 2^{-k-1}$ for some positive integer $k \geq 1$ and $\varphi_W(V) > 0$ for some $W \in \mathcal{Y}$, then $\mathbf{F}(W, \mathcal{V}_\infty) \leq 2\mathbf{F}(V, \mathcal{V}_\infty) \leq 2^{-k}$ and therefore $\|\xi_W\|_{C^k} \leq 1/k$.

As a result, the map $V \mapsto H_V$ defined on \mathcal{Y} can be extended to a continuous function $\mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}_G(M)$ by setting it identically equal to 0 on \mathcal{V}_∞ . Then, for every $V \in \mathcal{X}$, the flow $\Psi_V : [0, +\infty) \to \text{Diff}(M)$ generated by H_V is a *G*-equivariant isotopy. Since the map

 $V \in \mathcal{X} \mapsto H_V \in \mathfrak{X}_G(M)$ is continuous, then also the map $V \mapsto \Psi_V$ is continuous. In particular the function $V \mapsto \delta(\Psi_V(s, \cdot)_{\sharp}V)(H_V)$ is continuous as well for all $s \ge 0$ and $\Psi_V(0, \cdot)_{\sharp}V = V$. Hence, for every $V \in \mathcal{Y}$, let $0 < \tau(V) \le 1$ be the maximum such that

$$\delta(\Psi_V(s,\cdot)_{\sharp}V)(H_V) \le \frac{1}{2}\delta V(H_V) < 0 \text{ for all } s \in [0,\tau(V)].$$

The map $\tau: \mathcal{Y} \to [0, 1]$ is continuous, hence we can redefine H_V multiplying it by $\tau(V)$ in \mathcal{Y} , i.e., we reset it to be equal to $\tau(V)H_V$ in \mathcal{Y} and equal to 0 elsewhere. Note that this gives a well-defined vector field $\mathcal{X} \ni V \mapsto H_V \in \mathfrak{X}_G(M)$, because τ is bounded in \mathcal{Y} and therefore the newly-defined H_V is continuous if we set it equal to 0 in \mathcal{V}_{∞} . As a result, we also redefine the flow Ψ_V and it holds

$$\delta(\Psi_V(s, \cdot)_{\sharp}V)(H_V) < 0$$
 for all $V \in \mathcal{Y}$ and $s \in [0, 1]$.

Now let $\{\Lambda^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} = \{\{\Lambda^j_t\}_{t\in I^n}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \Pi$ be a minimizing sequence and define the *G*equivariant surface $\tilde{\Sigma}_t^j := \Psi_{\Lambda_t^j}(1, \Lambda_t^j)$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $t \in I^n$. Observe that the map $(t, x) \mapsto \tilde{\Phi}^j(t, x) := \Psi_{\Lambda_t^j}(1, x)$ is C^1 in the parameter *t*; however, it is not necessarily smooth, hence $\{\tilde{\Sigma}_t^j\}_{t\in I^n}$ is not necessarily contained in Π . Therefore, for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, let us define a smooth map $(t, x) \mapsto \Phi^j(t, x)$ by convolving $\tilde{\Phi}^j$ with a smooth kernel in the parameter $t \in I^n$ in such a way that

$$\|\Phi^{j}(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\Phi}^{j}(t,\cdot)\|_{C^{1}} \le \frac{1}{j+1}.$$
(5.1)

Note that $\Phi^j(t, \cdot)$ is *G*-equivariant, because we are convoluting in the parameter *t* and $\tilde{\Phi}^j(t, \cdot)$ is *G*-equivariant. Then, define the *G*-equivariant surface $\Sigma_t^j := \Phi^j(t, \Lambda_t^j)$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $t \in I^n$. By smoothness of the map $t \mapsto \Phi^j(t, \cdot)$, we have that $\{\Sigma_t^j\}_{t \in I^n} \in \Pi$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, by (5.1), it holds that

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathbf{F}(\Sigma_t^j, \tilde{\Sigma}_t^j) = 0.$$
(5.2)

As a result, using that $\mathscr{H}^2(\tilde{\Sigma}_t^j) = \mathscr{H}^2(\Psi_{\Lambda_t^j}(1,\Lambda_t^j)) \leq \mathscr{H}^2(\Lambda_t^j)$, we have that

$$m_0 \leq \limsup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_t^j) = \limsup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\tilde{\Sigma}_t^j) \leq \limsup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Lambda_t^j) = m_0,$$

thus, a posteriori, all the inequalities are equalities; in particular $\limsup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_t^j) = m_0.$

Our aim now is to prove that the minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} = \{\{\Sigma_t^j\}_{t\in I^n}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ has the properties claimed in the statement. Let $t_j \in I^n$ be such that $\{\Sigma_{t_j}^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a min–max sequence. Up to subsequence, $\Sigma_{t_j}^j$ converges in the sense of varifolds to a varifold *V*, which coincides with the limit in the sense of varifolds of $\tilde{\Sigma}_{t_j}^j$ by (5.2). Possibly passing to a subsequence, we can also assume that $\Lambda_{t_j}^j$ converges in the sense of varifolds to some varifold *W* and, by continuity of the map Ψ , we have that $\Psi_W(1, \cdot)_{\sharp}W = V$.

First consider the case when W is not stationary. Then $||W||(M) = m_0$, but on the other hand it holds

$$m_{0} = \lim_{j \to +\infty} \mathscr{H}^{2}(\tilde{\Sigma}_{t_{j}}^{j}) = \|V\|(M) = \|\Psi_{W}(1, \cdot)_{\sharp}W\|(M)$$
$$= \|W\|(M) + \int_{0}^{1} \delta(\Psi_{W}(s, \cdot)_{\sharp}W)(H_{W}) \,\mathrm{d}s < m_{0},$$

which is a contradiction. As a result W is stationary and therefore $W = \Psi_W(1, \cdot)_{\dagger} W = V$, which implies that V is stationary, as desired. Moreover, since $\Lambda_{t_i}^j \to W = V$, we also get that $C(\{\mathbf{\Sigma}^j\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}) \subset C(\{\mathbf{\Lambda}^j\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}).$ П

5.2 Min-max sequence G-almost minimizing in annuli

The second step is to prove that we can further assume that the min-max sequence found in the previous section has a certain "regularizing property", namely that of being G-almost minimizing in suitable subsets. The precise statements and definitions are given below.

Definition 5.3 Given $\delta, \varepsilon > 0$, a *G*-equivariant open set $U \subset M$ (namely h(U) = U for all $h \in G$), and a G-equivariant surface $\Sigma \subset U$, we say that Σ is (G, δ, ε) -almost minimizing in U if there does not exist any G-equivariant isotopy $\Psi : [0, 1] \to \text{Diff}(M)$ supported in U such that

- ℋ²(Ψ(s, Σ)) ≤ ℋ²(Σ) + δ for all s ∈ [0, 1];
 ℋ²(Ψ(1, Σ)) ≤ ℋ²(Σ) − ε.

A sequence $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is said to be *G*-almost minimizing in U if there exist sequences of positive numbers $\delta_i, \varepsilon_i > 0$ with $\varepsilon_i \to 0$ such that Σ^j is $(G, \delta_i, \varepsilon_i)$ -almost minimizing in U.

Definition 5.4 We say that a subset An $\subset M$ is a *G*-equivariant annulus if there are $x \in M$ and 0 < r < s such that An = $\bigcup_{g \in G} g(An(x, r, s))$, where $An(x, r, s) = B_s(x) \setminus \overline{B_r(x)}$ is the open annulus of center x, inner radius r and outer radius s. Note that, for r, s sufficiently small $\bigcup_{g \in G} g(An(x, r, s))$ consists of a finite union of disjoint open annuli (note that some annuli in the union could possibly overlap). Given $x \in M$, we denote by $\mathcal{AN}_r^G(x)$ the union of all G-equivariant annuli $\bigcup_{g \in G} g(An(x, r_1, r_2))$ as the radii r_1, r_2 vary in the range $0 < r_1 < r_2 \leq r$.

We say that a family of G-equivariant annuli is L-admissible for some positive integer L, if it consists of L G-equivariant annuli An₁,..., An_L such that An_i = $\bigcup_{g \in G} g(An(x, r_i, s_i))$ for some $x \in M$ and $r_i, s_i > 0$ with $r_{i+1} > 2s_i$ for all $i = 1, \dots, L - 1$.

Definition 5.5 We say that a surface $\Sigma \subset M$ is (G, δ, ε) -almost minimizing in an Ladmissible family \mathcal{A} of G-equivariant annuli if it is (G, δ, ε) -almost minimizing in at least one G-equivariant annulus of A. Moreover, we say that a sequence $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is G-almost minimizing in an *L*-admissible family A of *G*-equivariant annuli if there exist sequences δ_j , $\varepsilon_j > 0$ with $\varepsilon_i \to 0$ such that Σ^j is $(G, \delta_i, \varepsilon_i)$ -almost minimizing in \mathcal{A} ; equivalently, $\{\Sigma^j\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ is G-almost minimizing in A if it is G-almost minimizing in at least one G-equivariant annulus of \mathcal{A} .

Lemma 5.6 (cf. [11, Lemma A.1]) Let $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} = \{\{\Sigma^j\}_{t \in I^n}\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a minimizing sequence obtained from Proposition 5.2, then there exists $t_j \in I^n$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\{\Sigma_{t_j}^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a *G*-equivariant min–max sequence that is *G*-almost minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli, where $L = (3^n)^{3^n}$.

Proof Let $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be the minimizing sequence given by Proposition 5.2. Fixed any J > 0, we prove that there exist j > J and $t_j \in I^n$ such that $\Sigma_{t_j}^j$ is $(G, 1/(2^{n+2}J), 1/J)$ -almost minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli and $\mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_{t_j}^j) \ge m_0 - 1/J$. To this purpose, consider any j > J and define $K := \{t \in I^n : \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_t^j) \ge m_0 - 1/J\}$. Assume that for all $t \in K$ there exists an *L*-admissible family $\mathcal{A}_t = \{\operatorname{An}_t^1, \ldots, \operatorname{An}_t^L\}$ of *G*-equivariant annuli where Σ_t^j is not $(G, 1/(2^{n+2}J), 1/J)$ -almost minimizing, namely for all $t \in K$ and $i = 1, \ldots, L$ there exists a *G*-equivariant isotopy $\Psi_t^i : [0, 1] \to \operatorname{Diff}(M)$ supported in An_t^i such that

•
$$\mathscr{H}^2(\Psi^i_t(s,\Sigma^j_t)) \le \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma^j_t) + 1/(2^{n+2}J)$$
 for all $s \in [0,1]$;

• $\mathscr{H}^2(\Psi_t^i(1,\Sigma_t^j)) \leq \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_t^j) - 1/J.$

By continuity in the sense of varifolds of the map $t \mapsto \Sigma_t^j$, for every $t \in K$ we can find a neighborhood $U_t \subset I^n$ such that

- ℋ²(Ψⁱ_t(s, Σ^j_r)) ≤ ℋ²(Σ^j_r) + 1/(2ⁿ⁺¹J) for all s ∈ [0, 1], r ∈ U_t;
 ℋ²(Ψⁱ_t(1, Σ^j_r)) < ℋ²(Σ^j_r) 1/(2J) for all r ∈ U_t.
- $\mathcal{I}_t (\Psi_t(1, \mathbb{Z}_r)) \leq \mathcal{I}_t (\mathbb{Z}_r) = 1/(\mathbb{Z}_r)$ for all $r \in O_t$.

Since $\{U_t\}_{t \in K}$ is an open cover of *K* and *K* is compact, we can extract a finite subcover \mathcal{U} . We now want to find another cover \mathcal{O} of *K* and for every $O \in \mathcal{O}$ we want to choose a *G*-equivariant annulus An_O such that

- (i) for all $O \in O$ there exists $U_t \in U$ such that $O \subset U_t$ and $An_O = An_t^i$ for some i = 1, ..., L;
- (ii) for all $O_1, O_2 \in \mathcal{O}$ with nonempty intersection we have that $\operatorname{An}_{O_1} \cap \operatorname{An}_{O_2} = \emptyset$.

To this purpose, we follow [31, Chapter 4]). For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, let I(1,m) be the CW complex structure, supported on the 1-dimensional interval $I^1 = [0, 1]$, whose 0-cells are $[0], [3^{-m}], [2 \cdot 3^{-m}], \dots, [1 - 3^{-m}], [1]$ and whose 1-cells are the intervals $[0, 3^{-m}], [3^{-m}, 2 \cdot 3^{-m}], \dots, [1 - 3^{-m}, 1]$. Then consider the CW complex structure I(n,m) on the *n*-dimensional interval I^n , whose *p*-cells for $0 \le p \le n$ can be written as $\sigma_1 \otimes \sigma_2 \otimes \ldots \otimes \sigma_n$, where $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n$ are cells of the CW complex I(1,m) such that $\sum_{i=1}^n \dim(\sigma_i) = p$.

For every cell $\sigma = \sigma_1 \otimes \sigma_2 \otimes \ldots \otimes \sigma_n \in I(n, m)$, let $T(\sigma)$ be the open subset of I_n defined as $T(\sigma) := T(\sigma_1) \times T(\sigma_2) \times \ldots \times T(\sigma_n)$, where

$$T(\sigma_i) := \begin{cases} (x - 3^{-m-1}, x + 3^{-m-1}) & \text{if } \sigma_i = [x] \text{ is a 0-cell} \\ (x, y) & \text{if } \sigma_i = [x, y] \text{ is a 1-cell.} \end{cases}$$

Note that $\{T(\sigma) : \sigma \in I(n, m), T(\sigma) \cap K \neq \emptyset\}$ is an open cover of *K*. Then define \mathcal{O} to be such an open cover for some *m* sufficiently large such that $3^{-m}\sqrt{n}$ is less than the Lebesgue number of \mathcal{U} , thus *O* has diameter less than the Lebesgue number of \mathcal{U} for all $O \in \mathcal{O}$. Then, for all $O \in \mathcal{O}$, let \mathcal{A}_O be an *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli in *M* such that there exists $U_t \in \mathcal{U}$ with $O \subset U_t$ and $\mathcal{A}_O = \mathcal{A}_t$.

Now, note that $T(\sigma_1) \cap T(\sigma_2) \neq \emptyset$ for some $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in I(n, m)$ if and only if σ_1 and σ_2 are faces (possibly of different dimension) of a cell in I(n, m). We can thus exploit the following proposition to associate to every $O = T(\sigma) \in O$ a *G*-equivariant annulus An_O $\in A_O$.

Hence, for all $O = T(\sigma) \in O$, let us define An_O := An(σ), where An(σ) is given from Proposition 5.7. This proves the existence of the open cover \mathcal{O} of K with properties (i) and (ii) above. Moreover, by definition of \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{O} , for all $\mathcal{O} \in \mathcal{O}$ there exists a G-equivariant isotopy $\Psi_{\Omega}: [0, 1] \to \text{Diff}(M)$ supported in An_Q such that

- $\mathscr{H}^2(\Psi_O(s, \Sigma_r^j)) \le \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_r^j) + 1/(2^{n+1}J)$ for all $s \in [0, 1], r \in O$; $\mathscr{H}^2(\Psi_O(1, \Sigma_r^j)) \le \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_r^j) 1/(2J)$ for all $r \in O$.

Now, for all $O \in \mathcal{O}$ choose a C^{∞} function $\varphi_O \colon I^n \to [0, 1]$ supported in O, such that for all $s \in K$ there exists $O \in O$ such that $\varphi_O(s) = 1$. Then, given any $t \in I^n$, consider the function $\Phi_t \in \text{Diff}(M)$ defined as

$$\Phi_t(x) := \begin{cases} \Psi_O(\varphi_O(t), x) & \text{if } x \in \operatorname{An}_O \text{ for some} O \in \mathcal{O} \text{ with } t \in O, \\ x & \text{if } t \notin O \text{ for all } O \in \mathcal{O}. \end{cases}$$

Observe that Φ_t is well-defined since $\operatorname{An}_{O_1} \cap \operatorname{An}_{O_2} = \emptyset$ whenever $O_1, O_2 \in \mathcal{O}$ are not disjoint. Moreover, $t \mapsto \Phi_t$ is a G-equivariant isotopy with $\Phi_t = id$ for $t \in \partial I^n$. Indeed, note that $d(K, \partial I^n) > 0$, hence we can choose *m* possibly larger in such a way that $O \cap \partial I^n = \emptyset$ for all $O \in \mathcal{O}$. Therefore, we can define $\tilde{\Sigma}_t^j = \Phi_t(\Sigma_t^j)$ and we have that $\{\tilde{\Sigma}_t^j\}_{t \in I^n} \in \Pi$. Now note that, for every $t \in K$, there exists $O \in O$ such that $\varphi_O(t) = 1$, moreover $t \in O$ for at most other $2^n - 1$ sets $O \in \mathcal{O}$. As a result, we can estimate

$$\mathcal{H}^2(\tilde{\Sigma}^j_t) \leq \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma^j_t) - \frac{1}{2J} + \frac{2^n - 1}{2^{n+1}J} = \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma^j_t) - \frac{1}{2^{n+1}J}$$

for all $t \in K$, and

$$\mathscr{H}^{2}(\tilde{\Sigma}_{t}^{j}) \leq \mathscr{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{t}^{j}) + \frac{2^{n}}{2^{n+1}J} < m_{0} - \frac{1}{2J}$$

for all $t \in I^n \setminus K$. By arbitrariness of j, this would give $\liminf_{j \to +\infty} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\tilde{\Sigma}_t^j) < m_0$, which is a contradiction. This proves that, for every J > 0, there exists j > J and $t_j \in I^n$ such that $\sum_{t_i}^{j}$ is $(G, 1/(2^{n+2}J), 1/J)$ -almost minimizing in every L-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli and $\mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_{t_j}^j) \ge m_0 - 1/J$. In particular, we have that $\{\Sigma_{t_j}^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a *G*-equivariant min–max sequence that is *G*-almost minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of G-equivariant annuli.

Remark 5.8 Observe that the min-max sequence that we obtain is $(G, 1/(2^{n+2}J), 1/J)$ almost minimizing. This coincides with the result obtained in [7] (see Definition 3.2 therein) in the case of 1-parameters sweepouts, i.e., n = 1.

5.3 Regularity and genus bound as a consequence of G-almost minimality

The third and final step is to show that the properties of the min-max sequence obtained in the previous sections are sufficient to prove that this sequence converges to a G-equivariant free boundary minimal surface (possibly with multiplicity) for which the genus bound in Theorem 1.10 holds.

Proposition 5.9 In the setting of Theorem 1.10, given a *G*-equivariant min-max sequence $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ that is *G*-almost minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli for $L = (3^n)^{3^n}$ (as the one obtained in Lemma 5.6), there exists a *G*-equivariant function $r: M \to \mathbb{R}^+$ such that (up to subsequence) $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is *G*-almost minimizing in An $\in \mathcal{AN}_{r(x)}^G(x)$ for all $x \in M$. Moreover, $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges in the sense of varifolds as $j \to +\infty$ to $\Xi = \bigcup_{i=1}^k m_i \Xi_i$, where Ξ_i is a *G*-equivariant free boundary minimal surface and m_i is a positive integer for all i = 1, ..., k, and the genus bound in Theorem 1.10 holds.

Proof Thanks to [11, Lemma A.3], we have that there exists a *G*-equivariant function $r: M \to \mathbb{R}^+$ such that (up to subsequence) $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is *G*-almost minimizing in every An $\in \mathcal{AN}_{r(x)}^G(x)$ for all $x \in M$. Indeed, the only difference in the proof is that, instead of considering annuli An(x, r, s) centered at some point $x \in M$, here we have to consider *G*-equivariant annuli $\bigcup_{g\in G} g(\operatorname{An}(x, r, s))$ "centered" at some point $x \in M$.

At this point the proof of the second part of the statement follows using the *G*-almost minimality of $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$. Indeed, given a *G*-equivariant min–max sequence $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ that is *G*-almost minimizing in An $\in \mathcal{AN}_{r(x)}^G(x)$ for all $x \in M$, we get that (up to subsequence) Σ^j converges as $j \to +\infty$ to Ξ , which is a finite union of *G*-equivariant free boundary minimal surfaces (possibly with multiplicity), and the genus bound in Theorem 1.10 holds. The proof of the regularity of Ξ can be found in [7, Theorem 7.1] for the closed case and in [23, Proposition 4.11] for the free boundary case. The proof of the genus bound is instead contained in [14, 21]. The adaptations to the equivariant setting are the object of [19, Section 4, after Proposition 4.12] and [20, Section 7.2].

Remark 5.10 Note that in the references above about the regularity and the genus bound (namely, [7, 14, 19–21, 23]) the definition of almost minimizing sequence (corresponding to Definition 5.3 in this paper) requires $\delta_j = \varepsilon_j/8$. However, the relation between δ_j and ε_j in the definition of almost minimality is not important in the proof of Proposition 5.9.

Remark 5.11 Observe that the difficulties in the equivariant setting arise around the points in the singular locus of G, i.e., points $x \in M$ such that there exists $h \in G$ with h(x) = x. Since we required the isometries in G to be orientation-preserving, we have that the limit surface can intersect the singular locus only in a point where, locally, the symmetry group is conjugate to \mathbb{Z}_k or \mathbb{D}_k for some $k \ge 2$ (see [12, Theorem 2.4] or [19, Lemma 3.3]). This is the reason why we add the assumption of "orientation-preserving" to the isometries in G, namely to exclude the case in which locally the singular locus is a plane.

6 Deformation theorem

In this section we prove that, in the setting of Theorem 1.10, it is possible to modify a minimizing sequence in a way that, so to say, it avoids a given free boundary minimal surface with *G*-equivariant index greater or equal than n + 1. The deformation theorem, Theorem 6.5, is the analogue of Deformation Theorem A in [27]. Before presenting it, we recall three lemmas contained in [27] that are needed in the proof.

Lemma 6.1 Let (M^3, γ) be a three-dimensional Riemannian manifold with strictly mean convex boundary and let G be a finite group of isometries of M. Given a finite union $\Theta^2 \subset M$ of G-equivariant free boundary minimal surfaces (possibly with multiplicity) with $\operatorname{ind}_G(\operatorname{spt}(\Theta)) \ge n + 1$, there exist $0 < c_0 < 1$, $\delta > 0$ and a smooth family $\{F_v\}_{v \in \overline{R}^{n+1}} \subset \operatorname{Diff}_G(M)$ of G-equivariant diffeomorphisms with:

- (i) F₀ = id, F_{-v} = F_v⁻¹ for all v ∈ Bⁿ⁺¹;
 (ii) for any V ∈ B^F_{2δ}(Θ), the smooth function A^V: Bⁿ⁺¹ → [0, +∞) given by

$$A^{V}(v) = ||(F_{v})_{\#}V||(M)$$

has a unique maximum at $m(V) \in B^{n+1}_{c_0/\sqrt{10}}(0)$ and it satisfies $-c_0^{-1}$ id $\leq D^2 A^V(v) \leq D^2 A^V(v)$ $-c_{\text{o}}$ id for all $v \in \overline{B}^{n+1}$.

Proof Using that $ind_G(spt(\Theta)) \ge n + 1$, we can find G-equivariant normal vector fields X_1, \ldots, X_{n+1} on spt(Θ) such that

$$\mathcal{Q}^{\operatorname{spt}(\Theta)}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n+1}a_iX_i,\sum_{i=1}^{n+1}a_iX_i\right)<0$$

for all $(a_1, \ldots, a_{n+1}) \neq 0 \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. These vector fields can be extended to G-equivariant vector fields defined in all M (see Remark 3.6). Furthermore recall that, given the flow $\Phi \colon [0, +\infty) \times M \to M$ of a G-equivariant vector field Y, we have that $\Phi_t \in \text{Diff}_G(M)$ for all $t \in [0, +\infty)$ (see Remark 3.3). Given these observations, the proof follows exactly as in [27, Proposition 4.3], see also [27, Definition 4.1].

The following two lemmas coincide exactly with [27, Lemmas 4.5 and 4.4], since the G-equivariance does not play any role in these two results. We report them here for the sake of expository convenience.

Lemma 6.2 ([27, Lemma 4.5]) In the setting of Lemma 6.1, for every *G*-equivariant varifold $V \in \overline{B}_{2\delta}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta)$, let $\Phi^{V} : [0, +\infty) \times \overline{B}^{n+1} \to \overline{B}^{n+1}$ be the one-parameter flow generated by the vector field

$$u \mapsto -(1-|u|^2)\nabla A^V(u), \quad u \in \overline{B}^{n+1},$$

as defined also in [27, pp. 476]. Then, for all $0 < \eta < 1/4$, there is $T = T(\eta, \delta, \Theta, \{F_v\}_{v \in \overline{B}^{n+1}}, c_0) \ge 0$ such that, for all $V \in \overline{B}_{2\delta}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta)$ and $v \in \overline{B}^{n+1}$ with $|v - m(v)| \geq \eta$, we have

$$A^{V}(\Phi^{V}(T,v)) < A^{V}(0) - \frac{c_{0}}{10} \text{ and } |\Phi^{V}(T,v)| > \frac{c_{0}}{4}.$$

Remark 6.3 Note that Φ^V is smooth since A^V is. Moreover, for all $u \in \overline{B}^{n+1}$, the map $s \mapsto A^V(\Phi^V(s, u))$ is nonincreasing.

Lemma 6.4 ([27, Lemma 4.4]) There exists $\overline{\eta} = \overline{\eta}(\delta, \Theta, \{F_v\}_{v \in \overline{R}^{n+1}}) > 0$ such that, for any *G*-equivariant varifold $V \in (B^{\mathbf{F}}_{\delta}(\Theta))^{c}$ with

$$||(F_v)_{\#}V||(M) \le ||V||(M) + \overline{\eta}$$

for some $v \in \overline{B}^{n+1}$, we have $\mathbf{F}((F_v)_{\#}V, \Theta) > 2\overline{n}$.

Theorem 6.5 (Deformation theorem) Let $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} = \{\{\Sigma^j\}_{t\in I^n}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a minimizing sequence in the setting of Theorem 1.10. Moreover, assume that

- (i) Θ^2 is a finite union of G-equivariant free boundary minimal surfaces (possibly with *multiplicity*) with $ind_G(spt(\Theta)) > n + 1$;
- (ii) $\mathscr{H}^2(\Theta) = W_{\Pi}$;

(iii) *K* is a compact set of varifolds such that $\Theta \notin K$ and $\Sigma_t^j \notin K$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $t \in I^n$.

Then there exist $\varepsilon > 0$ and another minimizing sequence $\{\Lambda^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} = \{\{\Lambda^j_t\}_{t \in I^n}\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Pi$ such that $\Lambda^j_t \cap (\overline{B}^{\mathbf{F}}_{\varepsilon}(\Theta) \cup K) = \emptyset$ for all j sufficiently large.

Proof As aforementioned, the result is the analogue of Deformation Theorem A in [27] and the idea of the proof is to exploit the fact that we have many negative directions for the second variation of the area along Θ , hence it is possible to push the minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ away from Θ , keeping the fact that it is a minimizing sequence. Indeed, the sweepout is *n*-dimensional, while we have n + 1 negative directions.

Since spt(Θ) has *G*-equivariant index greater or equal than n+1, we can apply Lemma 6.1 and obtain $0 < c_0 < 1$, $\delta > 0$ and the family $\{F_v\}_{v \in \overline{B}^{n+1}} \subset \text{Diff}_G(M)$ given by the lemma. Moreover, up to modifying δ and $\{F_v\}_{v \in \overline{B}^{n+1}}$, we can assume that

$$\mathbf{F}(\Theta, F_{v}(\tilde{\Theta})) \leq \mathbf{F}(\Theta, K)/2 \quad \text{for all } \tilde{\Theta} \in \overline{B}_{2\delta}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta) \text{ and } v \in \overline{B}^{n+1}.$$
(6.1)

Fixed $j \in \mathbb{N}$, define the open subset $U_j \subset I^n$ given by

$$U_j := \{t \in I^n : \mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^J) < 7\delta/4\}.$$

Consider the continuous function $m_j: U_j \to B_{c_0/\sqrt{10}}^{n+1}(0)$ given by $m_j(t) = m(\Sigma_t^j)$, where the function *m* is defined in Lemma 6.1. Since dim $U_j = n < n + 1 = \dim(B_{c_0/\sqrt{10}}^{n+1}(0))$, by the transversality theorem given e.g. in [17, Theorem 2.1], there exists $\tilde{m}_j: U_j \to B_{c_0/\sqrt{10}}^{n+1}(0)$ such that $\tilde{m}_j(t) \neq 0$ and $|\tilde{m}_j(t) - m_j(t)| < 2^{-j}$ for all $t \in U_j$. Hence, consider the function $a_j: U_j \to B_{2^{-j}}^{n+1}(0)$ given by $a_j(t) = m_j(t) - \tilde{m}_j(t)$ and note that $a_j(t) \neq m_j(t)$ for all $t \in U_j$. In particular, we can assume that there is $\eta_j > 0$ such that $|a_j(t) - m_j(t)| \ge \eta_j$ for all $t \in U_j$ (possibly taking δ , and so U_j , smaller).

Now, for all $t \in U_j$, consider the one-parameter flow $\{\Phi^{t,j}(s,\cdot)\}_{s\geq 0} = \{\Phi^{\Sigma_t^j}(s,\cdot)\}_{s\geq 0} \subset \text{Diff}(\overline{B}^{n+1})$ defined in Lemma 6.2 and

$$T_j = T(\eta_j, \delta, \Theta, \{F_v\}_{v \in \overline{R}^{n+1}}, c_0) \ge 0$$

given by the lemma. Then, given a nonincreasing smooth function $\rho: [0, +\infty) \to [0, 1]$ that is 1 in $[0, 3\delta/2]$ and 0 in $[7\delta/4, +\infty)$, we define the continuous function

$$v_j \colon I^n \to \overline{B}^{n+1}, \quad v_j(t) = \begin{cases} \Phi^{t,j}(\rho(\mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^j))T_j, \rho(\mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^j))a_j(t)) & \text{for } t \in U_j \\ 0 & \text{for } t \notin U_j, \end{cases}$$

and then set

$$\Lambda_t^j = \begin{cases} F_{v_j(t)}(\Sigma_t^j) & \text{for } t \in U_j \\ \Sigma_t^j & \text{for } t \notin U_j. \end{cases}$$

Note that Λ_t^j is *G*-equivariant since Σ_t^j is *G*-equivariant and $F_{v_j(t)} \in \text{Diff}_G(M)$. However, a priori $\{\Lambda_t^j\}_{t\in I^n}$ is not contained in Π , since $(t, x) \mapsto F_{v_j(t)}(x)$ is not necessarily smooth but only continuous. Anyway, let us first show that $\lim_{j \to +\infty} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Lambda_t^j) \leq W_{\Pi}$ and that $\Lambda_t^j \cap \overline{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta) = \emptyset$ for all $t \in I^n$, for *j* sufficiently large, where $0 < \varepsilon < \delta$ has to be chosen. Later, we will describe a regularization argument to get a sequence of sweepouts with the same properties of $\{\Lambda^j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, but also contained in Π .

Observe that $\mathscr{H}^2(\Lambda_t^j) = \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma_t^j)$ for $t \notin U_j$ and, for $t \in U_j$, we have

$$\mathscr{H}^{2}(\Lambda_{t}^{j}) = \mathscr{H}^{2}(F_{v_{j}(t)}(\Sigma_{t}^{j})) \leq \mathscr{H}^{2}(F_{\rho(\mathbf{F}(\Theta,\Sigma_{t}^{j}))a_{j}(t)}(\Sigma_{t}^{j})).$$

However $|\rho(\mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^j))a_j(t)| \leq 2^{-j}$, which implies that

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \max_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Lambda^j_t) \le \lim_{j \to +\infty} \max_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Sigma^j_t) = W_{\Pi}.$$

Now let us prove that $\Lambda_t^j \cap \overline{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta) = \emptyset$ for all $t \in I^n$, for *j* sufficiently large. Up to taking $\delta > 0$ possibly smaller (note that Lemma 6.1 still holds for δ smaller), we can assume that $|\mathscr{H}^2(\tilde{\Theta}) - \mathscr{H}^2(\Theta)| \leq c_0/20$ for all $\tilde{\Theta} \in \overline{B}_{2\delta}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta)$. Then, let us distinguish three cases:

- If $t \in I^n$ is such that $\mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^j) \ge 7\delta/4$, then $\Lambda_t^j = \Sigma_t^j$ and therefore $\mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Lambda_t^j) = \mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^j) \ge 7\delta/4 > \varepsilon$.
- If $t \in I^n$ is such that $\mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^j) \leq 3\delta/2$, then we have $v_j(t) = \Phi^{t,j}(T_j, a_j(t))$ and therefore, by Lemma 6.2, it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}^2(\Lambda^j_t) &= \mathcal{H}^2(F_{v_j(t)}(\Sigma^j_t)) = A^{\Sigma^j_t}(\Phi^{t,j}(T_j, a_j(t)))) < A^{\Sigma^j_t}(0) - \frac{c_0}{10} \\ &= \mathcal{H}^2(\Sigma^j_t) - \frac{c_0}{10} \le \mathcal{H}^2(\Theta) - \frac{c_0}{20}, \end{aligned}$$

where the last inequality holds for j sufficiently large. Hence, it is possible to choose $\varepsilon > 0$ possibly smaller (depending on Θ and c_0) such that this implies that $\mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Lambda_t^j) > \varepsilon$ (indeed note that c_0 does not depend on ε).

• If $t \in I^n$ is such that $3\delta/2 \leq \mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^j) \leq 7\delta/4$, then we apply Lemma 6.4. Indeed, given $\overline{\eta} = \overline{\eta}(\delta, \Theta, \{F_v\}_{v \in \overline{R}^{n+1}})$ as in the lemma, for *j* sufficiently large it holds that

$$\mathscr{H}^{2}(\Lambda_{t}^{j}) = \mathscr{H}^{2}(F_{v_{j}(t)}(\Sigma_{t}^{j})) \leq \mathscr{H}^{2}(F_{\rho(\mathbf{F}(\Theta,\Sigma_{t}^{j}))a_{j}(t)}(\Sigma_{t}^{j})) \leq \mathscr{H}^{2}(\Sigma_{t}^{j}) + \overline{\eta},$$

since $|\rho(\mathbf{F}(\Theta, \Sigma_t^j))a_j(t)| \leq 2^{-j} \to 0$. This implies that $\mathbf{F}(\Lambda_t^j, \Theta) \geq 2\overline{\eta}$. Choosing $\varepsilon < 2\overline{\eta}$, we then get that $\mathbf{F}(\Lambda_t^j, \Theta) > \varepsilon$ for *j* sufficiently large, as desired.

To conclude the proof, we need to address the regularity issue. For all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\tilde{v}_j : I^n \to \overline{B}^{n+1}$ be a smooth function such that $\tilde{v}_j = 0$ on $I^n \setminus U_j$ and $|\tilde{v}_j(t) - v_j(t)| \le 2^{-j}$ for all $t \in U_j$. Then, define

$$\tilde{\Lambda}_t^j = \begin{cases} F_{\tilde{v}_j(t)}(\Sigma_t^j) & \text{for } t \in U_j \\ \Sigma_t^j & \text{for } t \notin U_j. \end{cases}$$

Note that $\{\tilde{\Lambda}_t^j\}_{t\in I^n} \in \Pi$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, $\sup_{t\in I^n} \mathbf{F}(\tilde{\Lambda}_t^j, \Lambda_t^j) \to 0$ as $j \to +\infty$, which implies that

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\tilde{\Lambda}^j_t) = \lim_{j \to +\infty} \sup_{t \in I^n} \mathscr{H}^2(\Lambda^j_t) \le W_{\Pi},$$

and that $\tilde{\Lambda}_t^j \cap \overline{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta) = \emptyset$ for all $t \in I^n$, for j sufficiently large (possibly taking $\varepsilon > 0$ smaller).

Finally note that, thanks to (6.1), for all $t \in U_j$ it holds that $\tilde{\Lambda}_t^j = F_{\tilde{v}_j(t)}(\Sigma_t^j) \notin K$, since $\Sigma_t^j \in \overline{B}_{2\delta}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta)$ and $\tilde{v}_j(t) \in \overline{B}^{n+1}$. Moreover, for all $t \in I^n \setminus U_j$, we have $\tilde{\Lambda}_t^j = \Sigma_t^j \notin K$. Hence $\{\tilde{\Lambda}_t^j\}_{t \in I^n}$ also avoids K and thus satisfies the desired properties.

Deringer

7 Proof of the main theorem

We now have all the tools to prove Theorem 1.10. Inspired by the proofs of [27, Theorems 6.1 and 1.2], the idea consists in repeatedly applying Theorem 6.5 in order to obtain a minimizing sequence in Π that stays away from the G-equivariant free boundary minimal surfaces with G-equivariant index greater than n.

Proof of Theorem 1.10 First of all, let us assume that the metric γ on the ambient manifold *M* is contained in \mathcal{B}_{G}^{∞} , defined in Definition B.1, i.e., it is bumpy. Let us consider the set \mathcal{V}^{n+1} of finite unions (possibly with multiplicity) of G-equivariant free boundary minimal surfaces in M with area W_{Π} and whose supports have G-equivariant index greater or equal than n + 1. We want to prove that there exists a minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^{j}\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Pi$ such that $C(\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}) \cap \mathcal{V}^{n+1} = \emptyset$. First note that, since $\gamma \in \mathcal{B}_G^\infty$, the set \mathcal{V}^{n+1} is at most countable thanks to Proposition B.3 (because \mathcal{V}^{n+1} consists of finite unions with integer multiplicities of G-equivariant free boundary minimal surfaces). Therefore, we can write $\mathcal{V}^{n+1} = \{\Theta_1, \Theta_2, \ldots\}$. Now, the idea is to repeatedly apply Theorem 6.5 in order to avoid all the elements in \mathcal{V}^{n+1} .

Let us consider a minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ and apply Theorem 6.5 with $\Theta = \Theta_1$. Then we get that there exist $\varepsilon_1 > 0$, $j_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ and another minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^{1,j}\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Pi$ such that $\Sigma_t^{1,j} \cap \overline{B}_{\varepsilon_1}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_1) = \emptyset$ for all $j \ge j_1$ and $t \in I^n$. Moreover, we can assume that no Θ_k belongs to $\partial B_{\varepsilon_1}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_1)$. Let us now consider Θ_2 : if it belongs to $\overline{B}_{\varepsilon_1}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_1)$, we choose $\varepsilon_2 = \varepsilon_1 - \mathbf{F}(\Theta_1, \Theta_2) > 0$ (here we use that $\Theta_2 \notin \partial B^{\mathbf{F}}_{\varepsilon_1}(\Theta_1)$); otherwise we apply Theorem 6.5 with $\Theta = \Theta_2$ and $K = \overline{B}_{\varepsilon_1}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_1)$. In both cases, we get $\varepsilon_2 > 0, j_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ and another minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^{2,j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\Pi$ such that $\Sigma_t^{2,j}\cap(\overline{B}_{\varepsilon_1}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_1)\cup\overline{B}_{\varepsilon_2}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_2))=\emptyset$ for all $j \ge j_2$ and $t \in I^n$. Moreover, we can assume again that no Θ_k belongs to $\partial B_{\varepsilon_2}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_2)$.

Then we proceed inductively for all Θ_k 's and we have two possibilities:

• The process ends in finitely many steps. In this case there exist m > 0, a minimizing sequence $\{\mathbf{\Sigma}^{m,j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\Pi, \varepsilon_1,\ldots,\varepsilon_m>0$ and $j_m\in\mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\Sigma_t^{m,j} \cap (\overline{B}_{\varepsilon_1}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_1) \cup \ldots \cup \overline{B}_{\varepsilon_m}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_m)) = \emptyset$$

for all $j \ge j_m$ and $t \in I^n$ and $\mathcal{V}^{n+1} \subset B^{\mathbf{F}}_{\varepsilon_1}(\Theta_1) \cup \ldots \cup B^{\mathbf{F}}_{\varepsilon_m}(\Theta_m)$. • The process continues indefinitely. In this case for all m > 0 there exist a minimizing sequence $\{\Sigma^{m,j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \Pi, \varepsilon_m > 0$ and $j_m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\Sigma_t^{m,j} \cap (\overline{B}_{\varepsilon_1}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_1) \cup \ldots \cup$ $\overline{B}_{\varepsilon_m}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_m) = \emptyset$ for all $j \ge j_m$ and $t \in I^n$ and no Θ_k belongs to $\partial B_{\varepsilon_1}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_1) \cup \ldots \cup \partial B_{\varepsilon_m}^{\mathbf{F}}(\Theta_m)$.

In the first case we define $\Lambda^i = \Sigma^{m,i}$, while in the second case we set $\Lambda^i = \Sigma^{i,l_i}$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$, for some $l_i \geq j_i$ such that $\{\Lambda^i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Pi$ is a minimizing sequence and $C(\{\Lambda^i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}) \cap \mathcal{V}^{n+1} =$ Ø. Hence, we can apply Proposition 5.2, Lemma 5.6 and Proposition 5.9 to conclude the proof in the case of $\gamma \in \mathcal{B}_G^{\infty}$.

Now, consider the case of an arbitrary metric γ and let $\{\gamma_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of metrics in \mathcal{B}_G^∞ converging smoothly to γ , which exists because of Theorem B.4. Thanks to the first part of the proof (in particular applying Proposition 5.2 and Lemma 5.6 to the minimizing sequence found in the first part of the proof with respect to γ_k), for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist a *G*-equivariant min–max sequence $\{\Lambda_{t_j}^{(k),j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \Pi$ (i.e., $\mathscr{H}^2_{\gamma_k}(\Lambda_{t_j}^{(k),j}) \to W_{\Pi,\gamma_k}$, the width of Π with respect to the metric γ_k) that is *G*-almost minimizing (with respect to γ_k) in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli with $L = (3^n)^{3^n}$ and that converges in the sense of varifolds to a finite union Ξ_k of *G*-equivariant free boundary minimal (with respect to γ_k) surfaces (possibly with multiplicity). Moreover, it holds $\operatorname{ind}_G(\operatorname{spt}(\Xi_k)) \leq n$ and $\mathscr{H}^2_{\gamma_k}(\Xi_k) = W_{\Pi,\gamma_k}$.

Note that W_{Π,γ_k} converges to the width $W_{\Pi} = W_{\Pi,\gamma}$ (the proof is the same as in the Almgren–Pitts setting, for which one can see [18, Lemma 2.1]). Hence, since the varifolds Ξ_k have uniformly bounded mass, up to subsequence Ξ_k converges in the sense of varifolds to a varifold Ξ with mass equal to W_{Π} . Moreover, taking a suitable diagonal subsequence of $\{\Lambda_{l_j}^{(k),j}\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{N}}$ we can obtain a min–max sequence $\{\Lambda^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ for Π with respect to γ , converging in the sense of varifolds to Ξ and which is *G*-almost minimizing (with respect to γ) in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli. More precisely, we can get the min–max sequence $\{\Lambda^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ in such a way that Λ_j is $(G, \varepsilon_j/2^{n+3}, 2\varepsilon_j)$ -almost minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli, for some sequence of positive numbers $\varepsilon_j \to 0$. Indeed, given $\varepsilon_j > 0$, if γ_k is sufficiently close (depending on ε_j) to γ , and Λ_j is $(G, \varepsilon_j/2^{n+2}, \varepsilon_j)$ -almost minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli sequence (depending on ε_j) to γ , and Λ_j is (*G*, $\varepsilon_j/2^{n+2}, \varepsilon_j$)-almost minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli with respect to γ_k , then Λ_j is $(G, \varepsilon_j/2^{n+3}, 2\varepsilon_j)$ -almost minimizing in every *L*-admissible family of *G*-equivariant annuli with respect to γ_k .

Now, given the min–max sequence $\{\Lambda^j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$, we can apply Proposition 5.9, and obtain that Ξ is a disjoint union of *G*-equivariant free boundary minimal surfaces (possibly with multiplicity) and the genus bound in the statement holds. One can look at Fig. 1 for a scheme of the argument.

Note that, thanks to Theorem 4.3 (see also Remark 4.4), up to extracting a further subsequence, we can assume that $spt(\Xi_k)$ converges smoothly (possibly with multiplicity) to a free boundary minimal surface away from the singular locus S and, possibly, from finitely



Fig. 1 Scheme of the convergence argument in the proof of Theorem 1.10

many additional points \mathcal{Y} . This free boundary minimal surface coincides with the limit of $\operatorname{spt}(\Xi_k)$ in the sense of varifolds, which is $\operatorname{spt}(\Xi)$, in $M \setminus (S \cup \mathcal{Y})$. In particular, we get that $\operatorname{ind}_G(\operatorname{spt}(\Xi)) \leq n$, which concludes the proof.

8 Equivariant index of some families of (free boundary) minimal surfaces

In this section, we want to make use of Theorem 1.10 to compute the equivariant index of some families of minimal surface in S^3 and free boundary minimal surfaces in B^3 . Let us start by proving Theorem 1.13.

Proof of Theorem 1.13 First note that, applying Theorem 1.10, we can assume that the surface M_g in [10, Theorem 1.1] has \mathbb{D}_{g+1} -equivariant index less or equal than 1. We want to prove that the \mathbb{D}_{g+1} -equivariant index is exactly 1. To do so, it is sufficient to construct a test function on which the associated quadratic form attains a negative value.

Recall that M_g contains the horizontal axes of symmetry ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_{g+1} . Hence, $\operatorname{sgn}_{M_g}(h) = -1$ for all $h \in \mathbb{D}_{g+1}$ given from a rotation of angle π around any horizontal axis. Observe that these isometries generate all \mathbb{D}_{g+1} , because the composition of the rotations of angle π around ξ_1 and ξ_2 is equal to the rotation of angle $2\pi/(g+1)$ around ξ_0 . Hence, we can infer the sign of all the elements of the group. In particular, we obtain that the function $u(x_1, x_2, x_3) = x_3$ on M_g belongs to $C_G^{\infty}(M_g)$ for all $g \in \mathbb{D}_{g+1}$. Moreover, one can compute that

$$Q_{M_g}(u,u) = -\int_{M_g} |A|^2 u^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^2 < 0$$

(see [13, Lemma 6.1]). This proves that the \mathbb{D}_{g+1} -equivariant index of M_g is exactly 1. \Box

Remark 8.1 Note that the function $x^{\perp} = \langle x, v \rangle$ is in $C_G^{\infty}(M_g)$ and $Q(x^{\perp}, x^{\perp}) = 0$.

Remark 8.2 Similarly to what we did for the surfaces M_g constructed in [10], we can apply Theorem 1.10 to any other surface obtained via an equivariant min–max procedure. To our knowledge, the known equivariant min–max constructions so far are:

- The minimal surfaces in S^3 of [19, Sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.5, 6.6 and 6.7].
- The minimal surfaces in S^3 of [22, Theorem 3.6].
- The free boundary minimal surfaces in B^3 of [20, Theorems 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3].
- The free boundary minimal surfaces in B^3 of [10, Theorem 1.1], discussed above.

For all these surfaces we get that the equivariant index (with respect to the corresponding symmetry group) is less or equal than 1. Then, one has to find a suitable equivariant test function to get the equality, on a case-by-case basis. However, in most of the cases above the constant function 1 is such a test function. Indeed, the constant 1 is a negative direction for the second variation of the area functional for every minimal surface in S^3 and every free boundary minimal surface in B^3 . Moreover, if the unit normal is equivariant (i.e., $h_*\nu = \nu$ for all h in the symmetry group, where ν is a choice of unit normal), the constant function is also equivariant.

In other cases some more work is needed, as in the proof of Theorem 1.13. This last claim applies for example to the surfaces in B^3 constructed in [20, Theorem 1.1], for which a good test function is again $u(x_1, x_2, x_3) = x_3$.

Acknowledgements The author wishes to thank her supervisor Alessandro Carlotto for many useful comments and discussions, and Tongrui Wang for helpful observations on the first version of this manuscript. This project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No. 947923).

Funding Open Access funding provided by the MIT Libraries.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Appendix A: Spectrum of elliptic operators with Robin boundary conditions

In this appendix we consider an elliptic operator with Robin boundary conditions in presence of a symmetry group and we prove that it admits a discrete spectrum. The proof is very similar to the one in the case without equivariance (see for example the notes [4]), but we report it here for completeness.

Lemma A.1 Let Σ^m be a compact Riemannian manifold with boundary $\partial \Sigma \neq \emptyset$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||u||_{L^2(\partial\Sigma)}^2 \le C ||u||_{L^2(\Sigma)} ||u||_{H^1(\Sigma)}$$

for all $u \in H^1(\Sigma)$.

Proof The result is a slight variation of the standard trace inequality $||u||_{L^2(\partial \Sigma)} \leq C||u||_{H^1(\Sigma)}$. Indeed, one can look at the proof of [6, Lemma 9.9] where $\Sigma = \mathbb{R}^m_+ = \{(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m : x_m \geq 0\}$ and note that, integrating the second last line and applying Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, we get that there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||u||_{L^{2}(\partial\Sigma)}^{2} \leq C ||u||_{L^{2}(\Sigma)} ||u||_{H^{1}(\Sigma)}$$

for all $u \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^m)$. Then the proof of the lemma follows from a standard partition argument.

Lemma A.2 Let V, H be Hilbert spaces such that there exists a compact (continuous) embedding $j: V \xrightarrow{d} H$ with dense image. Let $a: V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded symmetric H-elliptic form, i.e., assume that there exist $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ and c > 0 such that

$$a(u, u) + \omega \|j(u)\|_{H}^{2} \ge c \|u\|_{V}^{2}$$

for all $u \in V$. Moreover, let $A: D(A) \subset V \to H$ be the operator associated with the symmetric form a, i.e., given $x \in V$ and $y \in H$ we have $x \in D(A)$ and Ax = y if and only if $a(x, u) = (y, j(u))_H$ for all $u \in V$. Then the operator $A + \omega id: D(A) \subset V \to H$ is invertible with bounded compact inverse $(A + \omega id)^{-1}: H \to D(A) \hookrightarrow H$.

Deringer

Proof We briefly sketch the proof. Let us consider the operator $b: V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $b(u, v) := a(u, v) + \omega(j(u), j(v))_H$. Since *b* is bounded and coercive, we can apply Lax–Milgram theorem (cf. [6, Corollary 5.8]) and obtain that $\mathcal{B}: V \to V^*$ defined as $\mathcal{B} \sqcap (v) := b(u, v)$ is an isomorphism. Finally one can prove that the operator $j \circ \mathcal{B}^{-1} \circ k$, where $k: H \to V^*$ is given by $k(y) = (y, j(\cdot))_H$, coincides with $(A + \omega id)^{-1}$.

Theorem A.3 Let Σ^m be a compact connected Riemannian manifold with boundary $\partial \Sigma \neq \emptyset$, *G* be a finite group of isometries of Σ and $\operatorname{sgn}_{\Sigma} : G \to \{-1, 1\}$ be a multiplicative function. In particular we can define $C_G^{\infty}(\Sigma)$, $L_G^2(\Sigma)$, $H_G^1(\Sigma)$ as in Definition 3.7. Let $\alpha : \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}$ and $\beta : \partial \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}$ be smooth *G*-equivariant functions, i.e., $\alpha \circ h = \alpha$ and $\beta \circ h = \beta$ for all $h \in G$. Then there exists an orthonormal basis $(\varphi_k)_{k\geq 1} \subset C_G^{\infty}(\Sigma)$ of $L_G^2(\Sigma)$ and a nondecreasing sequence $(\lambda_k)_{k>1} \subset \mathbb{R}$ diverging to $+\infty$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} -\Delta\varphi_k - \alpha\varphi_k &= \lambda_k\varphi_k \quad \text{in } \Sigma\\ \partial_n\varphi_k + \beta\varphi_k &= 0 \qquad \text{in } \partial\Sigma \end{aligned}$$

Proof Let us consider the quadratic form $a: H^1_G(\Sigma) \times H^1_G(\Sigma) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as

$$a(u, v) := \int_{\Sigma} (\nabla u \cdot \nabla v - \alpha u v) \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{n} + \int_{\partial \Sigma} \beta u v \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{m-1}.$$

Note that *a* is continuous, because

$$\begin{aligned} |a(u, v)| &\leq \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma)} \|\nabla v\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma)} + \|\alpha\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma)} \|u\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma)} \|v\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma)} \\ &+ \|\beta\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial\Sigma)} \|\operatorname{tr} u\|_{L^{2}(\partial\Sigma)} \|\operatorname{tr} v\|_{L^{2}(\partial\Sigma)}, \end{aligned}$$

and the trace tr: $H^1_G(\Sigma) \to L^2_G(\partial \Sigma)$ is continuous. Moreover, *a* is $L^2_G(\Sigma)$ -elliptic, i.e.,

$$a(u, u) + \omega \|u\|_{L^2(\Sigma)}^2 \ge c \|u\|_{H^1(\Sigma)}^2$$

for all $u \in H^1_G(\Sigma)$, for some c > 0 and $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$. Here we used that Lemma A.1 implies

$$\|\beta\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{\partial \Sigma} |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^{m-1} \le c_1 \|u\|_{L^2(\Sigma)} \|u\|_{H^1(\Sigma)} \le \frac{1}{2} \|u\|_{H^1(\Sigma)}^2 + \frac{c_1}{2} \|u\|_{L^2(\Sigma)}^2$$

for some $c_1 > 0$.

Hence, since the embedding $j: H^1_G(\Sigma) \to L^2_G(\Sigma)$ is compact, we can apply Lemma A.2 with $H = L^2_G(\Sigma)$ and $V = H^1_G(\Sigma)$, and obtain that $A + \omega id: D(A) \subset H^1_G(\Sigma) \to L^2_G(\Sigma)$ is invertible with bounded compact inverse $(A + \omega id)^{-1}: L^2_G(\Sigma) \to D(A) \subset L^2_G(\Sigma)$, where $A: D(A) \subset L^2_G(\Sigma) \to L^2_G(\Sigma)$ is the operator associated with the symmetric form a, as in the statement of the lemma.

Now we want to prove that $A = -\Delta - \alpha$ and $D(A) = D_R$, where

$$D_R := \left\{ u \in H^1_G(\Sigma) : \Delta u \in L^2_G(\Sigma), \ \int_{\Sigma} (\Delta u) v + \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^m \right.$$
$$= - \int_{\partial \Sigma} \beta u v \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^{m-1} \, \forall v \in H^1_G(\Sigma) \left. \right\}.$$

Let $u \in D(A)$ and $f \in L^2_G(\Sigma)$ be such that Au = f, then

$$\int_{\Sigma} (\nabla u \cdot \nabla v - \alpha u v) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^m + \int_{\partial \Sigma} \beta u v \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^{m-1} = \int_{\Sigma} f v \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^m$$

🖄 Springer

for all $v \in H^1_G(\Sigma)$. In particular, if we consider $v \in C^{\infty}_G(\Sigma)$ with compact support in $int(\Sigma)$, we get that $\Delta u \in L^2_G(\Sigma)$ and $-\Delta u - \alpha u = f$. Exploiting this equation we obtain

$$\int_{\Sigma} (\Delta u) v + \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, \mathrm{d} \mathscr{H}^m = - \int_{\partial \Sigma} \beta u v \, \mathrm{d} \mathscr{H}^{m-1}$$

for all $v \in H^1_G(\Sigma)$. This proves that $u \in D_R$ and $Au = -\Delta u - \alpha u$. Conversely, given $u \in D_R$, we can easily show that $u \in D(A)$.

Now observe that the bounded compact operator $(A + \omega id)^{-1} : L_G^2(\Sigma) \to L_G^2(\Sigma)$ is positive definite. Therefore, by the spectral theorem, there exists an orthonormal basis $(\varphi_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ of $L_G^2(\Sigma)$ of eigenvectors of $(A + \omega id)^{-1}$ with corresponding eigenvalues $(\mu_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $\mu_0 \ge \mu_1 \ge \mu_2 \ge \ldots \to 0$. Then note that $\varphi_k \in D_R$ and it is an eigenvector of A with corresponding eigenvalue $\lambda_k := 1/\mu_k - \omega$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Finally, the fact that $\varphi_k \in C_G^\infty(\Sigma)$ follows from standard regularity theory and, from the fact that $\varphi_k \in D_R$, we obtain also that $\partial_\eta \varphi_k + \beta \varphi_k = 0$ in $\partial \Sigma$.

Appendix B: Bumpyness is G-generic

In this section, let M^{m+1} be a smooth, compact, connected manifold with boundary and let G be a finite group of diffeomorphisms of M. Moreover, let q be a positive integer ≥ 3 or $q = \infty$.

Definition B.1 [cf. [1, Theorem 9]] Denote by Γ_G^q be the set of *G*-equivariant C^q metrics on *M* endowed with the C^q topology. Moreover, let $\mathcal{B}_G^q \subset \Gamma_G^q$ be the subset of metrics $\gamma \in \Gamma_G^q$ such that no compact, smooth, *G*-equivariant manifolds with boundary that are C^q properly embedded as free boundary minimal hypersurfaces in (M, γ) , and no finite covers of any such hypersurface, admit a nontrivial Jacobi field.

Remark B.2 Note that we *do not* require the Jacobi field in the previous definition to be *G*-equivariant.

Proposition B.3 Let $\gamma \in \mathcal{B}_G^{\infty}$ be such that (M, γ) satisfies property (\mathfrak{P}) . Then (M, γ) contains countably many *G*-equivariant free boundary minimal hypersurfaces.

Proof This follows from Theorem 5 in [1], similarly to Corollary 8 therein.

Theorem B.4 The subset \mathcal{B}_{G}^{q} defined in Definition B.1 is comeagre in Γ_{G}^{q} .

Remark B.5 In [38, Theorem 2.1], White proved a stronger result in the closed case, namely that a generic, *G*-equivariant, C^q Riemannian metric on a smooth closed manifold is bumpy in the following sense: no closed, minimal *immersed* submanifold has a nontrivial Jacobi field. We decided to state Theorem B.4 only for properly embedded *G*-equivariant submanifolds, since White's generalization requires more technical work and we do not need it here. However a similar proof should work also in the case with boundary.

Before proceeding to the proof of Theorem B.4, we need to introduce some notation, which are the adaptations to the *G*-equivariant setting to the ones given in [1, pp. 22]. Consider a compact, connected, smooth manifold Σ^m with boundary and fix any $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. For $w \in C^{q-1,\alpha}(\Sigma, M)$, let

$$[w] := \{ w \circ \varphi : \varphi \in \text{Diff}(\Sigma) \}.$$

Deringer

 $\mathcal{PE}_{G}^{q} := \{ [w] : w \in C^{q-1,\alpha}(\Sigma, M) \text{ is a proper embedding with } G \text{-equivariant image} \}$

and

 $\mathcal{S}_{G}^{q} := \{ (\gamma, [w]) \in \Gamma_{G}^{q} \times \mathcal{P}\mathcal{E}_{G}^{q} : w \text{ is a free boundary minimal proper embedding w.r.t. } \gamma \}.$

Finally denote by $\pi_G^q: S_G^q \to \Gamma_G^q$ the projector onto the first factor, namely $\pi^q(\gamma, [w]) = \gamma$. Given these definitions, we can now state the main ingredient to prove Theorem B.4. This is a structure theorem, whose first version was discovered by White in [39], stating the relation between critical points of π^q and degenerate minimal hypersurfaces that underlies any bumpy metric theorem.

Theorem B.6 (Structure Theorem, cf. [38, Theorem 2.3] and [1, Theorem 35] In the setting described above, S_G^q is a separable C^1 Banach manifold and $\pi_G^q: S_G^q \to \Gamma_G^q$ is a C^1 Fredholm map of Fredholm index 0. Furthermore, $(\gamma, [w])$ is a critical point of π_G^q if and only if $w(\Sigma)$ admits a nontrivial *G*-equivariant Jacobi field.

Remark B.7 Theorem 2.3 in [38] is the version of the theorem in the case without boundary, while Theorem 35 in [1] is the case with boundary but where no group of symmetries is considered.

Proof As observed by White in the proof of [38, Theorem 2.3], the proof of the Structure Theorem works the same in the equivariant case replacing "metric" with "*G*-equivariant metric", "functions" with "*G*-equivariant functions" and working on a *G*-equivariant hypersurface instead of on any hypersurface. In fact, the reader can follow the proof of the Structure Theorem in the case with boundary contained in [1, Section 7.2] with these modifications. In particular note that:

- Here we used M^{m+1} for the ambient manifold and Σ^m for the embedded hypersurface, instead of \mathcal{N}^{n+1} and M^n as in [1].
- The background metric γ_* shall be chosen *G*-equivariant. This way, the exponential map with respect to γ_* induces a diffeomorphism between V^r (as defined in [1]*pp. 25) and a *G*-equivariant open neighborhood of $w(\Sigma)$. Then a class [w] such that $w \in C^{q-1,\alpha}(\Sigma, M)$ is a proper embedding with *G*-equivariant image corresponds to a function $u \in C_{q}^{q-1,\alpha}(\Sigma, V)$ with *G*-equivariant symmetry (cf. Definition 3.7).
- As observed in Remark 3.5, being *G*-stationary is the same as being stationary. Hence [1, Proposition 41] does not require modifications.
- The computations in [1, Proposition 45] are the same. The only change that we need is in point (2), where the operator $L(\gamma, u)$ should be consider between the spaces $C_G^{q-1,\alpha}(\Sigma, V)$ and $C_G^{q-3,\alpha}(\Sigma, V) \times C_G^{q-2,\alpha}(\partial \Sigma, V)$. Then, similarly as in [1], one can prove that $L(\gamma, u): C_G^{q-1,\alpha}(\Sigma, V) \to C_G^{q-3,\alpha}(\Sigma, V) \times C_G^{q-2,\alpha}(\partial \Sigma, V)$ is a Fredholm operator of Fredholm index 0.
- Finally, [1, Proposition 46] and the final proof of Structure Theorem itself (at [1, pp. 31]) can be modified accordingly to fit the equivariant setting. Just note that the functions in ker $L(\gamma, u)$, where $L(\gamma, u)$ is seen as a map between the equivariant spaces, correspond exactly to the *G*-equivariant Jacobi fields.

Proof of Theorem B.4 Given Theorem B.6, the proof is exactly the same as the proof of Theorem 9 in [1, Section 7.1] substituting Γ^q , S^q , \mathcal{B}^q with Γ^q_G , \mathcal{S}^q_G , \mathcal{B}^q_G . In fact, the only difference

in the proofs is hidden in the application of [38, Lemma 2.6], which is the point where the Structure Theorem (in the different variants: Theorem B.6, [38, Theorem 2.3] or [1, Theorem 35]) is used. However, White in [38] works in the equivariant setting as we do here, hence the argument there can be applied in our context without changes, since the presence of the boundary does not play a role in this lemma, as observed also in [1, pp. 24]. As said above (in the proof of Theorem B.6), the reader should pay attention to the fact that here we used M^{m+1} for the ambient manifold and Σ^m for the embedded hypersurface, instead of \mathcal{N}^{n+1} and M^n as in [1].

References

- Ambrozio, L., Carlotto, A., Sharp, B.: Compactness analysis for free boundary minimal hypersurfaces. Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 57(1), 1–39 (2018)
- Ambrozio, L., Carlotto, A., Sharp, B.: Comparing the Morse index and the first Betti number of minimal hypersurfaces. J. Differ. Geom. 108(3), 379–410 (2018)
- Ambrozio, L., Carlotto, A., Sharp, B.: Index estimates for free boundary minimal hypersurfaces. Math. Ann. 370(3–4), 1063–1078 (2018)
- Arendt, W., Chill, R., Seifert, C., Vogt, H., Voigt, J.: Form methods for evolution equations, and applications. In: 18th Internet Seminar on Evolution Equations (2015). https://www.mat.tuhh.de/veranstaltungen/ isem18/pdf/LectureNotes.pdf. Last visited on 2021/06/17
- 5. Almgren, F. The Theory of Varifolds. Mimeographed Notes. Princeton (1965)
- Brezis, H.: Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces and Partial Differential Equations. Universitext, Springer, New York (2011)
- Colding, T.H., De Lellis, C.: The min-max construction of minimal surfaces. In: Surveys in Differential Geometry, Vol. VIII (Boston, MA, 2002). Surveys in Differential Geometry, vol. 8. Int. Press, Somerville, pp 75–107 (2003)
- Colding, T.H., De Lellis, C.: Errata to the min–max construction of minimal surfaces. In: Surveys in Differential Geometry, vol. IX (Boston, MA, 2002). Surveys in Differential Geometry. Int. Press, Somerville (2002)
- 9. Carlotto, A., Franz, G.: Inequivalent complexity criteria for free boundary minimal surfaces. Adv. Math. **373**(107322), 68 (2020)
- Carlotto, A., Franz, G., Schulz, M.: Free boundary minimal surfaces with connected boundary and arbitrary genus. Camb. J. Math. 10(4), 835–857 (2022)
- Colding, T.H., Gabai, D., Ketover, D.: On the classification of Heegaard splittings. Duke Math. J. 167(15), 2833–2856 (2018)
- 12. Cooper, D., Hodgson, C.D., Kerckhoff, S.P.: Three-dimensional orbifolds and cone-manifolds, MSJ Memoirs, vol. 5. With a postface by Sadayoshi Kojima. Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo (2000)
- 13. Devyver, B.: Index of the critical catenoid. Geom. Dedicata 199, 355–371 (2019)
- De Lellis, C., Pellandini, F.: Genus: bounds for minimal surfaces arising from min-max constructions. J. Reine Angew. Math. 644, 47–99 (2010)
- Evans, L.C.: Partial Differential Equations. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 2nd edn., p. 19. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2010)
- Guang, Q., Li, M.M., Wang, Z., Zhou, X.: Min-max theory for free boundary minimal hypersurfaces II: general Morse index bounds and applications. Math. Ann. 379(3–4), 1395–1424 (2001)
- Hirsch, M.W.: Differential Topology. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 33. Springer, New York. Corrected reprint of the 1976 original (1994)
- Irie, K., Marques, F., Neves, A.: Density of minimal hypersurfaces for generic metrics. Ann. Math. (2) 187(3), 963–972 (2018)
- 19. Ketover, D.: Equivariant min-max theory (2016) arXiv:1612.08692
- 20. Ketover, D.: Free boundary minimal surfaces of unbounded genus (2016). arXiv:1612.08691
- 21. Ketover, D.: Genus bounds for min-max minimal surfaces. J. Differ. Geom. 112(3), 555–590 (2019)
- Ketover, D., Marques, F.C., Neves, A.: The catenoid estimate and its geometric applications. J. Differ. Geom. 115(1), 1–26 (2020)
- Li, M.M.: A general existence theorem for embedded minimal surfaces with free boundary. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 68(2), 286–331 (2015)

- Liu, Z.: The existence of embedded *G*-invariant minimal hypersurface. Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 60(1), Paper No. 36, 21 (2021)
- Maximo, D.: A note on minimal surfaces with bounded index Comm. Anal. Geom. (to appear) (2018). arXiv:1812.10728
- Marques, F.C., Neves, A.: Min-max theory and the Willmore conjecture. Ann. Math. (2) 179(2), 683–782 (2014)
- Marques, F.C., Neves, A.: Morse index and multiplicity of min-max minimal hypersurfaces. Camb. J. Math. 4(4), 463–511 (2016)
- Marques, F.C., Neves, A.: Existence of infinitely many minimal hypersurfaces in positive Ricci curvature. Invent. Math. 209(2), 577–616 (2017)
- Marques, F.C., Neves, A.: Morse index of multiplicity one min-max minimal hypersurfaces. Adv. Math. 378(107527), 58 (2021)
- 30. Palais, R.S.: The principle of symmetric criticality. Commun. Math. Phys. 69(1), 19-30 (1979)
- Pitts, J.T.: Existence and Regularity of Minimal Surfaces on Riemannian Manifolds. Mathematical Notes, p. 27. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1981)
- Pitts, J.T., Rubinstein, J.H.: Equivariant minimax and minimal surfaces in geometric three-manifolds. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 19(1), 303–309 (1988)
- Smith, F.: On the existence of embedded minimal 2-spheres in the 3-sphere, endowed with an arbitrary Riemannian metric, Ph.D. Thesis (1982)
- Song, A.: Morse index, Betti numbers and singular set of bounded area minimal hypersurfaces. Duke Math. J. (to appear) (2019). arXiv:1911.09166
- 35. Smith, G., Zhou, D.: The Morse index of the critical catenoid. Geom. Dedicata 201, 13-19 (2019)
- Tran, H.: Index characterization for free boundary minimal surfaces. Commun. Anal. Geom. 28(1), 189– 222 (2020)
- Wang, T.: Min–max theory for G-invariant minimal hypersurfaces. J. Geom. Anal. 32(9), 233, 53 (2022). arXiv:2009.10995
- White, B.: On the bumpy metrics theorem for minimal submanifolds. Am. J. Math. 139(4), 1149–1155 (2017)
- White, B.: The space of *m*-dimensional surfaces that are stationary for a parametric elliptic functional. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 36(3), 567–602 (1987)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.